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Statement - Coronavirus (COVID-19)

At the time of printing this Agenda 
the Council Meeting to be held on Monday 10 May 2021 will be 

open to the public but will be subject to density quotients.

If we are unable to accommodate you indoors, you will still be able 
to watch the webcast live on the Urban Screen in Harmony Square.

To view the webcast and stay informed of the status of Council 
Meetings please visit Council's website.
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1 MEETING OPENING
1.1 ATTENDANCE

Apologies
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1.2 ACKNOWLEDGEMENT OF TRADITIONAL OWNERS OF THE LAND

Council acknowledges and pays respect to the past, present and future Traditional Custodians and
Elders of this nation and the continuation of cultural, spiritual and educational practices of Aboriginal
and Torres Strait Islander peoples.
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1.3 OFFERING OF PRAYER

As part of Council's commitment to recognising the cultural and spiritual diversity of our community,
the prayer this evening will be offered by Rajaratna Sarma Premakantha Kurukkal from the Hindu
Community, a member of the Greater Dandenong Interfaith Network.
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1.4 CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

Meeting of Council held 26 April 2021.

Recommendation

That the minutes of the Meeting of Council held 26 April 2021 be confirmed.
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1.5 DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

Any interest that a Councillor or staff member has deemed to be significant and has disclosed as
either a material or general interest is now considered to be a conflict of interest. Conflict of Interest
legislation is detailed in Division 2 – Conflicts of Interest: sections 126, 127, 128, 129 & 130 of the
Local Government Act 2020. This legislation can be obtained by contacting the Greater Dandenong
Governance Unit on 8571 5216 or by accessing the Victorian Legislation and Parliamentary Documents
website at www.legislation.vic.gov.au.

If a Councillor discloses any interest in an item discussed at any Council Meeting (whether they attend
or not) they must:

· complete a disclosure of interest form prior to the meeting.

· advise the chairperson of the interest immediately before the particular item is considered (if attending
the meeting).

· leave the chamber while the item is being discussed and during any vote taken (if attending the
meeting).

The Councillor will be advised to return to the chamber or meeting room immediately after the item
has been considered and the vote is complete.
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2 OFFICERS' REPORTS - PART ONE
2.1 DOCUMENTS FOR SEALING
2.1.1 Documents for Sealing

A2683601File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Report Summary

Under the Victorian Local Government Act, each Council is a body corporate and a legal entity in its
own right. Each Council must therefore have a common seal (like any corporate entity) that is an
official sanction of that Council.

Sealing a document makes it an official document of Council as a corporate body. Documents that
require sealing include agreements, contracts, leases or any other contractual or legally binding
document that binds Council to another party.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the listed documents be signed and sealed.
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Item Summary

There are two [2] items being presented to Council’s meeting of 10 May 2021 for signing and sealing
as follows:

A letter of recognition to Colin Hackett, Business, Engineering and Major Projects Services
for 10 years of service to the City of Greater Dandenong; and

1.

An Instrument of Appointment of Authorised Officer under the provisions of the Local
Government Act 1989, the Local Government Act 2020, the Environment Protection Act
1970, the Heritage Act 2017, the Infringements Act 2006, the Land Acquisitions and

2.

Compensation Act 1986, the Planning and Environment Act 1987, the SexWork Act 1994,
the Subdivisions Act 1988, the Victorian Civil and Administrative Tribunal Act 1998 and
the Regulations made under each of those Acts; the Local Laws made under the Local
Government Act 1989; and any other Act, Regulation or delegated legislation (including
the Greater Dandenong Planning Scheme) which relates to the powers of the Council
made under the provisions and enactments described. This instrument enables the following
Council officers to carry out the statutory responsibilities of the above Acts and is subject
to policy and delegations previously adopted by Council:

Claudia Navruk; and
Brendan Eager.

Recommendation

That the listed documents be signed and sealed.
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2.2 DOCUMENTS FOR TABLING
2.2.1 Petitions and Joint Letters

qA228025File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Petitions and Joint LettersAttachments:

Report Summary

Council receives a number of petitions and joint letters on a regular basis that deal with a variety of
issues which have an impact upon the City.

Issues raised by petitions and joint letters will be investigated and reported back to Council if required.

A table containing all details relevant to current petitions and joint letters is provided in Attachment
1. It includes:

the full text of any petitions or joint letters received;1.

petitions or joint letters still being considered for Council response as pending a final
response along with the date they were received; and

2.

the final complete response to any outstanding petition or joint letter previously tabled
along with the full text of the original petition or joint letter and the date it was responded
to.

3.

Note: On occasions, submissions are received that are addressed to Councillors which
do not qualify as petitions or joint letters under Council’s current Meeting Procedure
Local Law. These are also tabled.
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Petitions and Joint Letters Tabled

Council received no new petitions and no joint letters prior to the Council Meeting of 10 May 2021.

A copy of a joint letter sent to the management of the Dandenong Plaza by 36 proponents in
regard to the recent relocation of the Taxi ranks within the Dandenong Plaza shopping complex.
This is for noting only as it was not a joint letter sent to Council for action.

N.B: Where relevant, a summary of the progress of ongoing change.org petitions and any
other relevant petitions/joint letters/submissions will be provided in the attachment to this
report.

Recommendation

That the listed items detailed in Attachment 1 and the current status of each, be received and
noted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 1000. 
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3 QUESTION TIME - PUBLIC
Question Time at Council meetings provides an opportunity for members of the public in the gallery
to address questions to the Councillors, Delegates and/or officers of the Greater Dandenong City
Council. Questions must comply with s. 4.5.8 of Council's Governance Rules.

QUESTIONS FROM THE GALLERY

Questions are limited to a maximum of three (3) questions per individual. Where time constraints deem
it likely that not all questions can be answered within the time allowed for Question Time, the Mayor
at his/her discretion may determine only the first question may be presented verbally with others
deferred to be managed in the same manner as public questions not verbally presented.

Priority will be given to questions that relate to items on the Council Agenda for that meeting.
Questions including any preamble should not exceed 300 words.

b) All such questions must be received in writing on the prescribed form or as provided for on
Council's website and at Ordinary meetings of Council. Where there are more than three (3) questions
received from any one individual person, the Chief Executive Officer will determine the three (3)
questions to be considered at the meeting.

c) All such questions must clearly note a request to verbally present the question and must be
received by the Chief Executive Officer or other person authorised for this purpose by the Chief
Executive Officer no later than:

i) the commencement time (7.00pm) of the Ordinary meeting if questions are submitted in person; or

ii) noon on the day of the Ordinary meeting if questions are submitted by electronic medium.

d) A question can only be presented to the meeting if the Chairperson and/or Chief Executive
Officer has determined that the question:

i) does not relate to a matter of the type described in section 3(1) of the Local Government Act 2020
(confidential information);

ii) does not relate to a matter in respect of which Council or a Delegated Committee has no power
to act;

iii) is not defamatory, indecent, abusive or objectionable in language or substance, and is not asked to
embarrass a Councillor, Delegated Member or Council officer; and

iv) is not repetitive of a question already asked or answered (whether at the same or an
earlier meeting).

e) If the Chairperson and/or Chief Executive Officer has determined that the question may not
be presented to the Council Meeting or Delegated Committee, then the Chairperson and/or
Chief Executive Officer:

i) must advise the Meeting accordingly; and
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ii) will make the question available to Councillors or Members upon request.

f) The Chairperson shall call on members of the gallery who have submitted an accepted question to
ask their question verbally if they wish.

g) The Chairperson, Chief Executive Officer or delegate may then direct that question to be
answered by a nominated Councillor or member of Council staff.

h) No debate on, or discussion of, a question or an answer will be permitted other than for the
purposes of clarification.

i) A Councillor, Delegated Committee Member or member of Council staff nominated to answer
a question may:

i) seek clarification of the question from the person who submitted it;

ii) seek the assistance of another person in answering the question; and

iii) defer answering the question, so that the answer may be researched and a written response
be provided within ten (10) working days following the Meeting (the question thereby being taken
on notice).

j) Question time for verbal presentations is limited in duration to not more than twenty (20) minutes. If
it appears likely that this time is to be exceeded then a resolution from Council will be required
to extend that time if it is deemed appropriate to complete this item.

k) The text of each question asked and the response will be recorded in the minutes of the Meeting.
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4 OFFICERS' REPORTS - PART TWO
4.1 POLICY AND STRATEGY
4.1.1 Q3 2020-21 Quarterly Performance Report

File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Quarterly Performance Report 1 January – 31
March 2021
Financial Report 1 July 2020 – 31 March 2021

Attachments:

Report Summary

This report details Council’s progress for the period 1 January to 31 March 2021 against performance
targets outlined in the Council Plan 2017-21 and the Mid-Year Budget 2020-21.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that Council notes the achievements against the Council Plan indicators
and the Mid-Year Budget for the period ending 31 March 2021.
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Background

Council adopted the Council Plan 2017-21 (Revised 2020) and Annual Plan 2020-21 on Monday 22
June 2020, and the Mid-Year Budget on Monday 14 December 2020.

The Council Plan 2017-21 outlines the vision and objectives of the current Council over the four years
of its term in office. This document guides service delivery, innovation and good governance, and
provides the foundation for the corporate planning framework for all business activities. The Council
Plan also guides the budget, service delivery priorities and the continuous improvement of our services.

The Council Plan 2017-21 and Annual Budget 2020-21 are made available to residents through the
Customer Service Centres, libraries and on Council’s website at www.greaterdandenong.com

Progress against performance targets for the period 1 January to 31 March 2021 is outlined in two
components of this report:

Part 1 – The Quarterly Performance Report details the achievements for the Council Plan Indicators
from the Council Plan 2017-21.

Part 2 – The Financial Report is designed to inform Councillors of the results of operations for the
period 1 July to 31 March 2021 including financial performance against the Mid-Year Budget adopted
by Council on Monday 14 December 2020.

Part 1 and Attachment 1: Quarterly Performance Report for the period 1 January to 31 March
2021

Performance highlights against the Council Plan strategic objectives include:

A vibrant, connected and safe community

Council’s Australia Day Festival was conducted across a number of sites, including Dandenong
Park, The Drum, Springvale Town Hall and Springvale Reserve.
The 2020 Young Leaders group delivered a Youth Leadership Forum with 50 students attending
from eight local secondary schools.
11 volunteer programs resumed over this period.
All civil works for the 2020-21 Local Area Traffic Management program have been completed.
2,069 secondary school students were immunised.
A comprehensive review of the Municipal Emergency Management Plan is nearing completion.

A creative city that respects and embraces diversity

Day trips for Seniors recommenced.
A draft Children’s Plan has been completed and will be out for community consultation in April.
Council represented the Local Government Mayoral Taskforce Supporting People Seeking
Asylum at the Palm Sunday Justice for Refugees Rally.
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Arts and cultural heritage exhibitions have returned to a physical presence with two exhibitions
on display in quarter 3.
Digital programming continued at The Drum with 2,350 views over the quarter.
The Springvale and District Historical Society has signed their lease on space within the
Springvale Community Hub and planning has commenced for their move.

A healthy, liveable and sustainable city

12 webinars and face to face workshops have been held so far this year as part of the 2020-21
Waste Education Plan.
The Sustainability Festival, now called ‘Forever Fest, is scheduled for 22-30 May and the program
is 95 per cent finalised.
The introduction of FOGO is on track for 5 April.
10 inspections/audits were made of green waste and recycling facilities.
The capital works program is 86 per cent in procurement, construction or complete.

A city planned for the future

100 per cent of town planning applications received were completed within the required timeframe.
The Springvale Community Hub project is complete and the official opening on 17 April.
Detailed design is complete for the Keysborough South Community Hub and the documentation
phase is underway. Construction is due to commence in 2021-22.
A Business Case for the Dandenong Wellbeing Centre is complete and design development is
scheduled to commence in April.
The Noble Park Structure Plan was tabled at a Councillor Briefing Session on 1 March and is
due to be adopted at an upcoming Council meeting.
Construction is well advanced on the Greater Dandenong Gallery of Art.
The installation of parking sensors in central Dandenong is complete and testing is underway.

A diverse and growing economy

Work has commenced on an Investment Attraction prospectus for Noble Park, Springvale and
Dandenong activity centres.
The 2021 ‘Take a Swing for Charity’ golf day event was held on 24 February with more than 100
participants and 80 golfers.
49 business network activities have been held with over 974 participants.
SEBN’s 2021 International Women’s Day breakfast event, in conjunction with the Greater
Dandenong Chamber of Commerce, was held online on 10 March.

An open and effective Council

The Community Satisfaction Survey was conducted in February/March and results are expected
to be shared with Council in June.
Council’s social media channels reported a 2.8 per cent growth.
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The 30 June 2021 interim finance audit is complete.
The Councillor Induction Program is 90 per cent complete.
The broad community consultation process for the new Council Plan concluded in February.
The recruitment for the deliberative community panel is complete and the panel will meet over
four sessions in April andMay to discuss a new community vision and principles to guide Council’s
future thinking.

Part 2 and Attachment 2: Financial Report for the period 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021

Introduction

The attached financial report is designed to inform Councillors of the results of operations for the
period 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021 including financial performance against the Mid-Year Budget
adopted by Council on 14 December 2020.

The financial report incorporates a set of Financial Statements and a Directorate Analysis of financial
performance by Business Unit. The following are contained in the Attachment:

Income Statement
Balance Sheet
Cash Flow Statement
Capital Expenditure Statement
Capital Expenditure report
Investment Report
Directorate Analysis

Whilst the Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards,
they contain several items which are “non-cash” in nature such as depreciation on assets and the
written down (book) value of assets sold. They also exclude capital expenditure, new borrowings and
loan repayments and as such, these Statements do not provide an accurate indication of the
surplus/deficit cash position within a financial year.

The table on the following page provides a management accounting summary of the financial
performance for the period 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021 which removes non-cash items and adds
back cash items that are excluded from the financial statements.
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Management Accounting Summary
for the period 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021

Results for the period 1 July 2020 to 31 March 2021

The overall management accounting result (after removing non-cash items) for the period 1 July 2020
to 31 March 2021 shows a favourable variance between the budget and actual of $15.46 million. The
variance is mainly due to a favourable surplus from ongoing operations, caused by lower than
anticipated operating expenditure to date.

Capital expenditure is $666,000 lower than the year to date budget (with a further $21.74 million
committed at 31 March 2021).
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2020-21 Budget and the COVID-19 pandemic

Council’s 2020-21 finances have been significantly impacted by COVID-19. In its original 2020-21
Budget, Council allocated $4.6 million across various areas relating to adverse impacts, with a residual
contingency remaining of approximately $600,000.

A detailed review of additional COVID-19 impacts and assumptions was performed during theMid-Year
Budget Review. This review found COVID-19 stage four restrictions have had a significant adverse
impact on Council, estimated at a further $5.57 million. These COVID-19 items, combined with other
known adjustments since adoption of the 2020-21 Annual Budget were reflected in the Mid-Year
Budget Review. In order to balance the 2020-21 Budget, capital project deferrals of $4.40 million
were included.

The financial impact of COVID-19 is continuing to be closely monitored and any permanent variances
identified subsequent to the Mid-Year Budget Review have been reflected in the Full Year Forecast
and are included in this report. Despite 2020-21 being an extraordinary financial year with the pressures
and impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic, the forecast result predicts a cash surplus of $1.05 million.
Whilst the current forecast position indicates a surplus result, COVID-19 continues to cause
unfavourable financial impacts in terms of reduced rental income and reduced user fee and statutory
fine income, etc. This has been largely offset by employee expense savings across the organisation
(including casuals and overtime), utility savings and general administration costs across the
organisation.

INCOME

Income for the period ended 31 March 2021 is favourable against budget by $1.79 million. This is
primarily due to the following:

Grants – operating ($2.63 million favourable) – Additional funding received for Family Day Care
(offset by higher payments to educators, $1.38 million) and Child First ($290,000), combined with an
unbudgeted grant from the Department of Environmental, Land, Water and Planning (will be offset
by grant expenditure, relates to High Risk Waste Sites Local Government Capacity Building Grant
$224,000).

The above favourable variance is partly offset by unfavourable variances in:

Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment ($908,000
unfavourable) – Due to the sale of the car park at 2 Mason Street, Dandenong as part of a three-way
land swap has been reflected in the Full Year Forecast. This is a non-cash accounting entry.

User fees ($759,000 unfavourable) – Mainly due to a reduction in the Family Day Care (FDC)
administration levy fee income caused by COVID-19 which is offset by higher FDC grant subsidy
income (Community Services $540,000), combined with lower fee income for building permits (City
Planning, Design and Amenity $155,000).
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EXPENDITURE

Actual expenditure at 31 March 2021 against the budget is favourable by $13.07 million. The major
variances are in materials and services and employee costs.

Materials and services ($5.68 million favourable) – The major items contributing to this favourable
variance include:

Contract services ($1.46 million) – mainly due to timing of works and delay in receipt of invoices
in Roads and Drains, Waste Management and Cleansing combined with a temporary reduction
in services and expenditure in Building Maintenance due to COVID-19 restrictions (Engineering
Services $2.00 million). These favourable variances are partly offset by higher payments to
educators due to additional grant funding received (Family Day Care $925,000).
Materials, maintenance and services ($1.27 million) – mainly due to delay in commencement
of works and receipt of invoices in Home and Community Care and Libraries (Community Services
$529,000), Building Maintenance and Parks Services (Engineering Services $394,000) and
Parking Management (City Planning, Design and Amenity $240,000).
Consultants, professional services ($1.21 million) – due to delay in commencement or delay in
receipt of invoices relating to a number of grant funded programs (Community Services $388,000),
strategic planning projects, planning scheme amendments and legal expenses (City Planning,
Design and Amenity $352,000), asset condition audits (Engineering Services $207,000) and
Occupational Health and Safety program combined with Risk and Organisational Development
legal and professional services (Corporate Services $187,000).
Administration costs ($1.01 million) – lower than anticipated expenditure to date across a range
of accounts including promotions, community education, postage/courier, printing/stationery,
Council publications, fuel, postage, advertising and events (Community Services $528,000,
Engineering Services $225,000 and Corporate Services $128,000).
Utilities ($630,000) – mainly due to lower than anticipated electricity and water costs to date
because of facility closures as per COVID-19 restrictions and a delay in receipt of invoices
(Engineering Services $465,000 and Corporate Services $113,000).

Overall, a $440,000 favourable adjustment has been included in the Full Year Forecast for Materials
and Services.

Employee costs ($5.18 million favourable) – This favourable variance is mainly due to staff
recruitment occurring later than planned, delay in commencement and recruitment of grant funded
projects and lower than anticipated corporate training and training/conference expenditure (Community
Services $3.42 million, City Planning, Design and Amenity $915,000, Engineering Services $282,000
and Corporate Services $444,000).

Of the $3.42 million favourable variance in the Community Services directorate, $2.29 million relates
to grant funded programs which require an acquittal. Any unspent grant funding at 30 June 2021 will
be carried over to the 2021-22 financial year.

Overall, a $436,000 favourable adjustment has been included in the Full Year Forecast for Employee
Costs.
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Other expenses ($1.19 million favourable) – Favourable variance mainly due to delay in receipt
of invoices for the Council election costs (Non-Directorate $631,000), savings in Council’s contribution
to the Dandenong Night Market which has been cancelled due to COVID-19 and delay in Council’s
Melbourne Food and Wine Festival contribution (Corporate Services $117,000).

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure at 31 March 2021 is $35.34 million. A further $21.74 million was committed
at the end of March. The capital works program comprises of asset renewal, expansion, upgrade and
the investment in new assets.

Proposal

That Council notes the progress against performance targets outlined in the Council Plan 2017-21
for the period 1 January to 31 March 2021 and the Financial Report for the period 1 July 2020 to 31
March 2021.

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted to see
for themselves and the City in 2030, the result was the Greater Dandenong Community Plan ‘Imagine
2030’. This report is consistent with the following community visions:

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’
People

Pride – Best place best people
Cultural Diversity – Model multicultural community
Outdoor Activity and Sports – Recreation for everyone
Lifecycle and Social Support – The generations supported

Place

Sense of Place – One city many neighbourhoods
Safety in Streets and Places – Feeling and being safe
Appearance of Places – Places and buildings
Travel and Transport – Easy to get around

Opportunity

Education, Learning and Information – Knowledge
Jobs and Business Opportunities – Prosperous and affordable
Tourism and visitors – Diverse and interesting experiences
Leadership by the Council – The leading Council
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Council Plan 2017-2021

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. This report is consistent with the following goals:

People

A vibrant, connected and safe community
A creative city that respects and embraces diversity

Place

A healthy, liveable and sustainable city
A city planned for the future

Opportunity

A diverse and growing economy
An open and effective Council

Related Council Policies

This report is in accordance with Council’s policy of providing regular information and feedback to
Council and the community about Council’s financial position and key performance indicators.

Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

All matters relevant to the Victorian Human Rights Charter have been considered in the preparation
of this report and are consistent with the standards set by the Charter.

Financial Implications

The financial position of the Council will be monitored against the approved Mid-Year Budget to
ensure that Council achieves its financial goals.

Consultation

The Chief Executive Officer, Directors and staff responsible for reporting were consulted. Council’s
Finance Department has prepared the financial statements and all other attachments with feedback
from Business Unit Managers.
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Conclusion

Greater Dandenong City Council provides a performance report against organisational objectives on
a quarterly basis. The reporting procedures and systems in place provide Councillors and the
community with the opportunity to monitor progress against Council Plan Indicators and the Annual
Budget. This ensures that all resources are managed effectively and accountably. Council will be
kept informed of the financial position on a quarterly basis, as is current practice.

Recommendation

That Council notes the progress against the performance targets outlined in the Council Plan
2017-21 for the period 1 January to 31 March 2021 and the financial report for the period 1 July
2020 to 31 March 2021.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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CGD – Operating Result 
For the period 1 July 2020 – 31 March 2021 
 

 
 
Overview 
 
The surplus at 31 March 2021 is favourable to budget by $13.07 million due mainly to the following year 
to date variances: 
 
• Materials and services ($5.69 million) - due to delay in receipt of invoices combined with timing of 

works (Engineering Services $3.38 million) and lower than anticipated expenditure (Community 
Services $970,000, City Planning, Design and Amenity $727,000 and Corporate Services $461,000). 

• Employee costs ($5.18 million) – due to delay in recruitment and commencement of grant funded 
projects mainly in Community Services ($3.42 million), City Planning Design and Amenity ($915,000) 
and Corporate Services ($444,000).  Of the $3.42 million favourable variance in Community Services, 
$2.29 million relates to grant funded programs which require an acquittal.  Any unspent grant funds 
relating to these programs will be carried forward to the 2021-22 financial year. 

• Grants – operating ($2.63 million) – due to additional grant funding received mainly in Family Day 
Care which is mostly offset by higher payments to educators (Community Services $2.02 million) and 
a Local Government Capacity Building grant which will be offset by salary costs (City Planning Design 
and Amenity $212,000). 

 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income B1
Rates and charges 114,656 114,386 270 151,750 151,880 130 152,325
Statutory fees and fines 5,086 4,924 162 7,140 6,591 (549) 8,426
User fees 4,001 4,760 (759) 6,502 5,648 (854) 8,068
Grants - operating 24,983 22,352 2,631 29,662 32,084 2,422 29,875
Grants - capital 1,593 1,548 45 13,879 14,488 609 3,244
Contributions - monetary 1,846 1,719 127 4,058 4,059 1 2,910
Contributions - non-monetary 298 298 - 15,000 15,000 - 15,000
Net gain (loss) on disposal of 
property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 281 1,189 (908) 1,377 290 (1,087) 377
Other income 3,245 3,020 225 6,645 5,696 (949) 6,000
Total income 155,989 154,196 1,793 236,013 235,736 (277) 226,225

Expenses B2
Employee costs 60,138 65,322 5,184 90,541 90,105 436 84,402
Materials and services 46,876 52,561 5,685 77,914 77,474 440 70,493
Prior year capital expenditure unable 
to be capitalised (non-cash) 593 - (593) - - - -
Bad and doubtful debts 510 674 164 1,363 1,365 (2) 1,363
Depreciation 24,222 24,222 - 32,308 32,308 - 31,433
Amortisation - intangible assets 45 45 - 60 60 - -
Amortisation - right of use assets 436 291 (145) 581 581 - -
Borrowing costs 2,205 2,205 - 2,924 2,924 - 3,051
Finance costs - leases - - - 21 21 - -
Asset write offs 208 - (208) - - - -
Other expenses 4,483 5,673 1,190 7,311 7,201 110 5,725
Total expenses 139,716 150,993 11,277 213,023 212,039 984 196,467

Net surplus (deficit) 16,273 3,203 13,070 22,990 23,697 707 29,758
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COVID-19 and 2020-21 impacts 
 
Council’s 2020-21 finances have been significantly impacted by COVID-19.  In its original 2020-21 
Budget, Council allocated $4.6 million across various areas relating to adverse impacts, with a residual 
contingency remaining of approximately $600,000. 
 
2020-21 Mid-Year Budget Review 
 
A detailed review of additional COVID-19 impacts and assumptions was performed during the Mid-Year 
Budget Review.  This review found COVID-19 stage four restrictions have had a significant adverse 
impact on Council, estimated at a further $5.57 million.  These COVID-19 items, combined with other 
known adjustments since adoption of the 2020-21 Annual Budget were reflected in the Mid-Year Budget 
Review.  In order to balance the 2020-21 Budget, capital project deferrals of $4.40 million were included.   
 
The more significant COVID-19 impacts adjusted in the 2020-21 Mid-Year Budget Review comprise:   
 
• Parking fines, ticket machine income and permits ($2.13 million) 
• Lower interest returns on investments ($700,000). 
• Leisure centres impact ($591,000). 
• Lower rental and venue hire income due to rental waivers and required facility closures ($477,000). 
• Additional allocation to the business grants program ($290,000) 
• Deferral of penalty rate interest payable on outstanding rates ($225,000). 
• Reduction in supplementary rates income due to slowing trend ($200,000). 
• Financial Assistance Grants funding to be received via the Victoria Grants Commission ($189,000).  

Outcome lower due to COVID-19 impact on investment returns affecting the available pool fund. 
• Continuation of Council's COVID-19 rate waiver package ($150,000). 
 
 
2020-21 Full Year Forecast 
 
The financial impact of COVID-19 is continuing to be closely monitored and any permanent variances 
identified subsequent to the Mid-Year Budget Review have been reflected in the Full Year Forecast and 
are included in this report. 
 
Despite 2020-21 being an extraordinary financial year with the pressures and impacts of the COVID-19 
pandemic, the forecast result predicts a cash surplus of $1.05 million.  However, the current forecast 
review highlights many ups and downs in revenue and expenditure and is explained further below. 
 
The full year forecast result is the subject of an extensive review undertaken with departments during the 
March quarter.  Council’s 2020-21 initial financial position was heavily influenced by early COVID-19 
impacts and council officers will continue to closely monitor the impacts to Council’s financial position for 
the remainder of 2020-21.  Whilst the current forecast position indicates a surplus result, COVID-19 
continues to cause unfavourable financial impacts in terms of reduced rental income and reduced user 
fee and statutory fine income, etc.  This has been largely offset by employee expense savings across 
the organisation (including casuals and overtime), utility savings and general administration costs across 
the organisation. 
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Highlighted below are some of the trends (favourable/unfavourable) in the 2020-21 forecast surplus of 
$1.05 million: 
 
Favourable 
 
• Employee cost savings of $436,000.  Most of these savings occur in City Planning, Design and 

Amenity ($545,000) and Corporate Services ($516,000).  Partly offset by higher forecast costs in 
Engineering Services ($265,000) and Non-Directorate ($130,000).  Non-Directorate includes a 
forecast increase due to predicted unfavourable movements in leave provisions resulting from a 
higher level of annual leave hours held by staff.  This has been softened by lower fringe benefits 
tax (FBT) payable as a result of a successful Australian Taxation Office ruling on car parking FBT. 

• Utility costs savings across the organisation ($181,000) primarily water and electricity relating to 
Council’s facilities (mainly Parks Services). 

• Administration costs across the organisation ($448,000) mainly events ($151,000), fuel ($120,000), 
postage/courier and storage costs ($61,000). 

 

Unfavourable 
 

• A forecast reduction in statutory fees and fines income across the organisation of $548,000 mainly 
due to lower building and planning compliance fines income, animal and parking management fines 
income. 

• Lower fees and charges of $343,000 primarily in building ($153,000) and car parking ($102,000). 
• Lower asset sales ($160,000) – arising from slower vehicle turnover due to lower kilometres 

travelled in council vehicles.  Primarily due to COVID-19 working from home arrangements. 
• Spring Valley landfill recoveries ($864,000) – recoveries for rehabilitation works is currently in 

dispute.  Whilst the outcome is unknown, an appropriate provision has been allowed for in the 
2020-21 Forecast until further information comes to hand. 

• Lower rental income ($387,000) across Council’s facilities including sporting pavilions, civic 
facilities and car parking. 

• Lower interest on investments returns further projected of $98,000 largely due to the current low 
interest rate environment impacted by COVID-19. 
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Balance Sheet 
As at 31 March 2021 
 

 
 

For comments regarding movements and particular line items above, please refer to explanatory notes located at C1 to C5. 
  

2020-21 2019-20 2020-21 2020-21
ACTUAL ACTUAL MID YEAR ORIGINAL

31 Mar 2021 30 Jun 2020 BUDGET BUDGET
Note $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS
Current assets C1
Cash and cash equivalents 165,658        154,563        116,858        108,170        
Financial assets -                2,000            -                -                
Trade and other receivables 55,853          24,974          25,876          24,120          
Other assets 694               4,537            2,815            2,756            
Non-current assets classified as held for sale -                1,000            -                -                
Total current assets 222,205        187,074        145,549        135,046        

Non-current assets C2
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment 2,201,541     2,190,972     2,256,186     2,244,581     
Investment property 11,814          11,814          11,814          12,827          
Right-of-use assets 562               998               988               -                
Intangible assets 79                 124               64                 -                
Other financial assets -                -                -                230               
Trade and other receivables 305               305               305               325               
Total non-current assets 2,214,301     2,204,213     2,269,357     2,257,963     
Total assets 2,436,506     2,391,287     2,414,906     2,393,009     

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities C3  
Trade and other payables 4,429            18,800          22,684          20,670          
Prepaid rates 37,345          -                -                -                
Trust funds and deposits 9,053            8,425            8,425            39,069          
Unearned income 46,705          40,340          40,340          -                
Provisions 20,790          19,659          19,659          17,418          
Interest-bearing liabilities 822               3,255            3,372            3,270            
Lease liabilities 65                 571               571               -                
Total current liabilities 119,209        91,050          95,051          80,427          

Non-current liabilities C4
Provisions 1,910            1,110            1,110            1,555            
Trust funds and deposits 298               311               311               900               
Interest-bearing liabilities 56,636          56,636          53,264          53,495          
Lease liabilities 442               442               442               -                
Total non-current liabilities 59,286          58,499          55,127          55,950          
Total liabilities 178,495        149,549        150,178        136,377        

NET ASSETS C5 2,258,011     2,241,738     2,264,728     2,256,632     

EQUITY
Accumulated surplus 925,049        904,579        940,808        955,453        
Asset revaluation reserve 1,269,823     1,269,823     1,269,824     1,241,807     
Reserves 63,139          67,336          54,096          59,372          
TOTAL EQUITY 2,258,011     2,241,738     2,264,728     2,256,632     

87

MONDAY, 10 MAY 2021City of Greater Dandenong

ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

4.1.1 Q3 2020-21 Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



 Financial Report for the period 1 July 2020 – 31 March 2021 

Page 5 

 

Cash Flow Statement as at 31 March 2021 
 

 
• Details regarding Council’s cash movements are contained in Note D - Cash Flow Statement. 
• The dissemination of Council’s restricted and operating cash is provided in the graph “Restricted and Unrestricted Cash” 

in Appendix 2 Investment Analysis in this report. 
• Cash inflows and outflows are inclusive of GST where applicable.  

2020-21 2020-21
2020-21 ANNUAL ANNUAL 

ACTUAL MID YEAR ORIGINAL
31 Mar 2021 BUDGET BUDGET

Inflows/ Inflows/ Inflows/
(Outflows) (Outflows) (Outflows)

$'000 $’000 $'000
Cash flows from operating activities
Rates and charges 119,636         151,750         151,986         
Statutory fees and fines 4,148             4,875             6,587             
User fees 4,443             7,152             8,710             
Grants - operating 25,446           32,021           31,642           
Grants - capital 7,862             13,879           3,244             
Contributions - monetary 3,555             4,058             2,910             
Interest received 572                800                1,496             
Trust funds and deposits taken 20,719           27,052           35,500           
Other receipts 2,846             6,599             5,019             
Net GST refund 6,992             13,001           8,900             
Employee costs (60,156)          (90,541)          (83,649)          
Materials and services (58,501)          (88,341)          (86,855)          
Trust funds and deposits repaid (19,980)          (27,052)          (33,500)          
Other payments (4,808)            (8,042)            (6,298)            
Net cash provided by operating activities 52,774           47,211           45,692           

Cash flows from investing activities
Payments for property, infrastructure, plant and equipment (39,844)          (81,831)          (43,705)          
(Payments) proceeds for investments 2,000             2,000             2,000             
Proceeds from sale of property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment 1,323             1,686             686                
Net cash used in investing activities (36,521)          (78,145)          (41,019)          

Cash flows from financing activities
Finance costs (2,217)            (2,924)            (3,051)            
Repayment of borrowings (2,433)            (3,255)            (3,126)            
Interest paid - lease liability (2)                   (21)                 -                 
Repayment of lease liabilities (506)               (571)               -                 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (5,158)            (6,771)            (6,177)            

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 11,095           (37,705)          (1,504)            
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 154,563         154,563         109,674         
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 165,658         116,858         108,170         

Represented by:
Operating cash                                      41,004           5,880             (9,846)            
Restricted cash                               124,654         110,978         118,016         
Total 165,658         116,858         108,170         

88

MONDAY, 10 MAY 2021City of Greater Dandenong

ORDINARY COUNCIL MEETING - AGENDA

4.1.1 Q3 2020-21 Quarterly Performance Report (Cont.)



 Financial Report for the period 1 July 2020 – 31 March 2021 

Page 6 

 

Capital Expenditure Statement 
 
The detailed program under each of the capital groups is contained in Appendix 1 – Capital 
Expenditure. 
 

 
 
 
  

  

 YTD 
ACTUAL 

 YTD 
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE 

 
COMMIT 

 ANNUAL 
MID YEAR 

BUDGET

 FULL
YEAR 

FORECAST

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 

BUDGET 
 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

PROPERTY 14,865 14,730 (135) 12,282 33,118 33,962 13,713
PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 1,883 2,361 477 971 5,639 5,657 4,769
INFRASTRUCTURE 18,587 18,912 324 8,483 43,074 43,366 25,225
TOTAL EXPENDITURE 35,336 36,002 666 21,736 81,831 82,985 43,705
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Notes to the Financial Statements 
 

A.  Accounting Policy Notes  
 

The financial report is prepared on the principles of accrual accounting. Accrual accounting recognises 
income when earned and expenditure when incurred, regardless of whether cash settlement has taken 
place. The basis of recognition of major income and expenditure in these statements are defined below. 
1. Rate revenue: Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, 

although cash is received in quarterly instalments or a lump sum, depending on how the ratepayer 
chooses to pay.  Rate revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates determined 
for the year in July. 

2. Grants revenue: Council receives two types of grants, namely a General Purpose Grant (Financial 
Assistance Grant funding from the Victoria Grants Commission) which is not tied to any programs 
and Special Purpose Grants for various programs.  In accordance with new Accounting Standards, 
AASB 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ and AASB 1058 ‘Income of Not-For-Profit 
Entities’, grant income is now generally recognised in the Income Statement to the extent of satisfied 
performance obligations.  Alternatively, grant funding which does not have sufficiently specific 
performance obligations is recognised as income when the cash is received.  Any grant income 
relating to unsatisfied performance obligations is recognised as unearned income in the Balance 
Sheet at balance date.  Grants comprise of operating and capital (recurrent and non-recurrent). 

3. Fees and charges: Most fees and charges are recognised when cash is received.  Generally, where 
Council raises a debtor’s invoice, income is recognised at the point of the invoice and not when cash 
is received.  Car parking permit income relating to a future period at balance date are recognised as 
unearned income in the Balance Sheet. 

4. Contributions - cash: Cash contributions are essentially from developers towards open space 
works. These monies are treated as income when received. Council is obligated to spend these 
monies for the purpose for which they are given by the developers.  Council also receives external 
contributions for other capital projects.  Cash contributions received are held in reserves and treated 
as “restricted cash” until they are spent (see note 9 below). 

5. Employee costs: Salaries expenditure is based on fortnightly salaries paid and accruals for salary 
on-costs such as leave entitlements, superannuation and workcover. 

6. Capital expenditure: The two broad areas of capital are the capital improvement program (CIP) 
(which includes infrastructure and major projects) and ‘other’ which includes fleet, computers, plant 
and furniture.  Expenditure is recognised as capital if it is significant in value and results in assets 
which have a useful life in excess of at least one year. 

7. Budget information: The Original Budget information contained in the report is the budget approved 
by Council on 22 June 2020. The year to date budget in this report reflects the Mid-Year Budget as 
adopted by Council on 14 December 2020.  The Mid-Year Budget represents the adopted budget 
incorporating net carry forward capital and operating amounts from 2019-20 and any adjustments 
identified since the 2020-21 Original Budget was approved in June 2020.   

8. Cash Flow Statement: Reflects the actual cash movements during the year. 
9. Restricted cash: These are monies set aside for specific purposes and are not readily available for 

day to day operations or general capital works. They include funds set aside towards meeting long 
service leave commitments (required by government regulations), statutory reserves (eg. open space 
contributions) and other funds that are committed towards specific purposes.  
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B1.  Operating Income 
 
The chart below shows the categories of operating income against their respective budgets (excluding 
non-cash accounting entries such as non-monetary contributions or gifted assets). 

 
 
Income for the period ended 31 March 2021 is favourable against budget by $1.79 million.  This is 
primarily due to the following: 
 
Grants – operating ($2.63 million favourable) – Additional funding received for Family Day Care (offset 
by higher payments to educators, $1.38 million) and Child First ($290,000), combined with an 
unbudgeted grant from the Department of Environmental, Land, Water and Planning (will be offset by 
grant expenditure, relates to High Risk Waste Sites Local Government Capacity Building Grant 
$224,000). 
 
The above favourable variance is partly offset by unfavourable variances in: 
 
Net gain (loss) on disposal of property, infrastructure, plant and equipment ($908,000 
unfavourable) – Due to the sale of the car park at 2 Mason Street, Dandenong as part of a three-way 
land swap which has been reflected in the Full Year Forecast.  This is a non-cash accounting entry. 
 
User fees ($759,000 unfavourable) – Mainly due to a reduction in the Family Day Care (FDC) 
administration levy fee income caused by COVID-19 which is offset by higher FDC grant subsidy income 
(Community Services $540,000), combined with lower fee income for building permits (City Planning, 
Design and Amenity $155,000). 
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YTD actual 114,656 5,086 4,001 1,846 24,983 1,593 281 3,245
YTD budget 114,386 4,924 4,760 1,719 22,352 1,548 1,189 3,020

Income from operating activities 
for 1 July 2020 - 31 March 2021
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B2.  Operating Expenditure 
 
The chart below shows the categories of operating expenditure against their respective budget (excluding 
non-cash accounting entries including depreciation, amortisation, asset write offs and prior year capital 
expenditure unable to be capitalised). 
 

 
 
Actual expenditure at 31 March 2021 against the budget is favourable by $11.28 million. The major 
variances are in materials and services and employee costs. 
 
Materials and services ($5.68 million favourable) – The major items contributing to this favourable 
variance include: 
 
• Contract services ($1.46 million) – mainly due to timing of works and delay in receipt of invoices in 

Roads and Drains, Waste Management and Cleansing combined with a temporary reduction in 
services and expenditure in Building Maintenance due to COVID-19 restrictions (Engineering 
Services $2.00 million).  These favourable variances are partly offset by higher payments to 
educators due to additional grant funding received (Family Day Care $925,000). 

• Materials, maintenance and services ($1.27 million) – mainly due to delay in commencement of 
works and receipt of invoices in Home and Community Care and Libraries (Community Services 
$529,000), Building Maintenance and Parks Services (Engineering Services $394,000) and Parking 
Management (City Planning, Design and Amenity $240,000). 
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• Consultants, professional services ($1.21 million) – due to delay in commencement or delay in 
receipt of invoices relating to a number of grant funded programs (Community Services $388,000), 
strategic planning projects, planning scheme amendments and legal expenses (City Planning, 
Design and Amenity $352,000), asset condition audits (Engineering Services $207,000) and 
Occupational Health and Safety program combined with Risk and Organisational Development legal 
and professional services (Corporate Services $187,000). 

• Administration costs ($1.01 million) – lower than anticipated expenditure to date across a range of 
accounts including promotions, community education, postage/courier, printing/stationery, Council 
publications, fuel, postage, advertising and events (Community Services $528,000, Engineering 
Services $225,000 and Corporate Services $128,000). 

• Utilities ($630,000) – mainly due to lower than anticipated electricity and water costs to date because 
of facility closures as per COVID-19 restrictions and a delay in receipt of invoices (Engineering 
Services $465,000 and Corporate Services $113,000). 

Overall, a $440,000 favourable adjustment has been included in the Full Year Forecast for Materials and 
Services. 
 
Employee costs ($5.18 million favourable) – This favourable variance is mainly due to staff recruitment 
occurring later than planned, delay in commencement and recruitment of grant funded projects and lower 
than anticipated corporate training and training/conference expenditure (Community Services $3.42 
million, City Planning, Design and Amenity $915,000, Engineering Services $282,000 and Corporate 
Services $444,000).    
 
Of the $3.42 million favourable variance in the Community Services directorate, $2.29 million relates to 
grant funded programs which require an acquittal.  Any unspent grant funding at 30 June 2021 will be 
carried over to the 2021-22 financial year.   
 
Overall, a $436,000 favourable adjustment has been included in the Full Year Forecast for Employee 
Costs. 
 
Other expenses ($1.19 million favourable) – Favourable variance mainly due to delay in receipt of 
invoices for the Council election costs (Non-Directorate $631,000), savings in Council’s contribution to 
the Dandenong Night Market which has been cancelled due to COVID-19 and delay in Council’s 
Melbourne Food and Wine Festival contribution (Corporate Services $117,000). 
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C.  Balance Sheet 
   
Council's net assets are valued at $2.26 billion at 31 March 2021. 
 
C1.  Current assets (cash and other assets that can be readily converted to cash) 
 
Cash and cash equivalents ($165.66 million) – Represents the amount held by Council in cash or term 
deposits.  Please note that this amount includes $124.65 million of funds “restricted” for various purposes.  
These are detailed in the notes to the cash flows that follow in section D and a graphical presentation in 
Appendix 2. 
 
Funds are invested in accordance with Council’s Investment Policy.  The policy requires Council to invest 
with prudence, consideration of acceptable risks and relevant legislation. 
 
The details of Council’s investments are contained in Appendix 2.  In selecting investment products, 
Council has paid due consideration to risk by investing in products that have a minimum Standard and 
Poor’s (S&P) rating of ‘A’. 
 
Financial assets ($nil) – Financial assets represent investments with a maturity term of greater than 
three months.  The decrease in financial assets from 30 June 2020 reflects the maturity of $2 million in 
investments placed in Green Tailored Deposits with a term of greater than three months (matured in 
August 2020). 
 
Trade and other receivables ($55.85 million) – This balance includes: 
• Rate debtors $40.20 million.  The collection rate is monitored closely with 25.18% of 2020-21 rate 

income levied still to be collected at 31 March (compared to 24.05% at the same time last year).  
Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is accrued evenly over the year, although cash is 
received in quarterly instalments, nine direct debit payments or a lump sum, depending on how the 
ratepayer chooses to pay.  Rate revenue in the Income Statement is a monthly accrual of the rates 
determined for the year in July. 

• Infringement debtors of $9.51 million (net of provision for doubtful debts). 
• General debtors $6.14 million (net of provision for doubtful debts). 
 
Other assets ($694,000) – This balance includes: 
• Prepayments $320,000 - expenses prepaid at 31 March 2021. 
• Other deposits $309,000 – represents $75,000 deposit for Metropolitan Waste and Resource 

Recovery Group organic waste processing contract and $234,000 deposit paid to South East Water 
for provision of water and sewerage assets at 5 Mason Street, Dandenong. 

• Accrued income $65,000 – income earned but cash not yet received at 31 March 2021. 
 
Non-current assets classified as held for sale ($nil) – The decrease from 30 June 2020 reflects the 
settlement of the sale of a car park land asset at 2 Mason Street, Dandenong in December 2020. 
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C2. Non-current assets  
 
Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment ($2.20 billion) – Includes Council roads, drains, 
buildings, plant and other fixed assets.  These values are reflected after recognising the depreciation 
allowed against each asset.   
 
Investment property ($11.81 million) is separately classified from ‘Property, infrastructure, plant and 
equipment’ in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards.  Any adjustment to the fair value of 
these assets is recorded in the Comprehensive Income Statement and these assets are not depreciated. 
 
Right-of-use assets ($562,000) – Represents leased (right-of-use) assets in accordance with the new 
Accounting Standard AASB 16 'Leases'.  Includes property, fleet, IT and office equipment that have been 
leased under ordinary lease arrangements. These values are reflected after recognising the amortisation 
expense. 
 
Intangible assets ($79,000) – Represents computer software assets that were transferred from 
‘Property, infrastructure, plant and equipment’ to ‘Intangible assets’ in 2019-20.  These values are 
reflected after recognising the amortisation expense. 
 
Other financial assets ($nil) – The decrease in this item reflects Council’s previous share-holding of 
$230,000 in Regional Kitchen Pty Ltd which will not be returned.   
 
Trade and other receivables ($305,000) - $232,000 of this balance represents Council’s share of funds 
held in trust by Whitehorse City Council relating to the former Narre Warren landfill site combined with a 
$73,000 refundable bond paid to Community Chef (which is expected to be returned to Council). 
 

 
C3. Current liabilities (debts due to be repaid within 12 months) 
 
Trade and other payables ($4.43 million) – This balance includes trade creditors arising from 
operations and capital works.  
 
Prepaid rates ($37.35 million) – Rate revenue (excluding supplementary rates) is earnt evenly over the 
year, although cash is received in quarterly instalments, nine direct debit payments or a lump sum, 
depending on how the ratepayer chooses to pay.  Prepaid rates represent rates received that have not 
yet been earnt.  This item will be $nil at 30 June 2021 as all rates received will have been earnt. 
 
Trust funds and deposits ($9.05 million) – Trust funds and deposits includes other refundable monies 
in respect of: 
 
• Other deposits ($3.30 million), mostly relating to asset protection bonds ($2.29 million), drainage 

work deposits ($530,000) and contractor deposits ($232,000). 
• Road deposits ($2.52 million). 
• Fire services property levy funds collected by Council on behalf of the State Government, but not 

yet paid on to the State Revenue Office ($1.77 million).  These monies are remitted to the State 
Revenue Office in accordance with legislative timeframes (28 days after each quarterly rate 
instalment date).   

• Landscape deposits ($798,000). 
• Open space contributions ($657,000). 
 
The significant decrease in this line item from the 2020-21 Original Budget to Mid-Year Budget is due to 
a reclassification of Developer Contribution Plan (DCP) liabilities from ‘trust funds and deposits’ to 
‘unearned income’ as per the note below relating to ‘unearned income’. 
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Unearned income ($46.71 million) – Represents income not yet earned in accordance with the new 
Accounting Standards AASB 1058 'Income of Not-For-Profit Entities' and AASB 15 'Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers' based on specific performance obligations that were not complete at 31 March 
2021 in respect of: 
 
• Developer Contribution Plan liabilities (DCP) – ($30.47 million) 
• Grants - operating ($5.99 million)  
• Grants - capital ($10.11 million) 
• Other ($134,000). 
 
Provisions ($20.79 million) – This balance represents the provision for employee entitlements and 
landfill restoration works. 
 
• Employee entitlements: 

o Long service leave entitlements - $11.64 million. 
o Annual leave entitlements - $8.10 million.  
o Rostered days off (RDO) - $560,000. 

 
• Landfill provision - $489,000 - provision for the restoration and aftercare management of the former 

Spring Valley landfill site (closed). The former closed landfill is owned by the Council and is used 
as recreational open space. Council’s share is 19.88% of the total future estimated costs. 

 
Interest-bearing liabilities ($822,000) – Represents the remaining repayments of long-term borrowings 
to occur during 2020-21. 
 
Lease liabilities ($65,000) - Represents the lease repayments in respect of right-of-use assets that are 
due to occur within 12 months and mainly comprise of property and information technology related lease 
obligations. 
 
 
C4. Non-current liabilities (debts due to be repaid in future years) 
 
Provisions ($1.91 million) – Represents the provisions estimated to be paid beyond the 2020-21 
financial year and comprises long service leave entitlements for employees ($1.39 million) and landfill 
provision for restoration of Spring Valley landfill site ($515,000) (Council’s share is 19.88% of the total 
future estimated costs). 
 
Trust funds and deposits ($298,000) – Represents deposits that are payable beyond the 2020-21 
financial year and comprises landscape deposits of $273,000 and contractor deposits of $25,000. 
 
Interest-bearing liabilities ($56.64 million) – Comprises the amount of outstanding borrowings to be 
repaid beyond the next 12 months.  
 
Lease liabilities ($442,000) – Represents lease liability repayments expected to occur beyond the next 
12 months.      
 
 
C5. Net assets and equity 
 
Net assets - Represents the difference between total assets and total liabilities.  It is the Council’s net 
worth to the City’s ratepayers. 
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Reserves – Includes both statutory reserves (S) and discretionary reserves (D).  The statutory reserves 
apply where funds are gained from the application of legislative requirements to contribute – and where 
expenditure of the funds is not entirely discretionary (i.e. the funds need to be used for certain expenditure 
only).  The reserves listed below are explained in the notes to the cash flows that follow. 
 
The discretionary reserves are: 
• Major projects reserve  
• Self-insurance reserve  
• Council funded – Development Contribution Plans reserve  
• Spring Valley landfill rehabilitation reserve  
• Springvale Activity Precinct – Parking and Development reserve  
• Dandenong Activity Precinct – Parking and Development reserve  
• Native re-vegetation reserves  
• Keysborough South Maintenance Levy reserve  
• General reserve (Aged Care) 
• Future maintenance reserve (LXRA) 
 
The statutory reserves are: 
• Open space – planning, development and improvements  
• Open space – acquisitions  
 

 
D.  Cash Flow Statement 
 
Cash and investment holdings total $165.66 million at 31 March 2021, an increase of $11.10 million since 
30 June 2020.  Total cash and investment holdings are made up of operating cash ($41.00 million) and 
restricted cash ($124.65 million).  
 
Please refer to the next page for a detailed listing of Restricted Cash items, which are set aside for 
specific purposes. 
 
Cash flows from operating activities – net inflow of $52.77 million.   
 
The major inflows are rates $119.64 million, grants $33.31 million, trust funds and deposits taken $20.72 
million, user fees $4.44 million, statutory fees and fines $4.15 million and monetary contributions $3.55 
million 
 
The major outflows are employee costs $60.16 million, materials and services $58.50 million and trust 
funds and deposits repaid $19.98 million.  
 
Trust funds and deposits taken and repaid mainly relate to fire services property levies (FSPL).  The 
remittance of the FSPL and FSPL levy interest amounts are made to the State Revenue Office (SRO) in 
four payments in accordance with Section 41(1) of the FSPL Act.  An instalment is due and payable to 
the Commissioner of State Revenue 28 days after the due date of rates instalments. Council collects 
FSPL on behalf of the State Government. 
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Cash flows from investing activities – net outflow of $36.52 million, including: 
 
• $39.84 million for capital works expenditure. The detailed capital works schedule is included in this 

report as Appendix 1.   Please note the difference between the two capital expenditure amounts is 
due to the movement in capital trade creditors at the start and end of the reporting period.  Appendix 
1 is on an accrual basis. 

• $2.00 million of proceeds from financial assets (investment funds held at 30 June 2020 in tailored 
deposits with a maturity of greater than three months). 

• $1.32 million proceeds on asset sales represents $1.00 million from sale of car park land asset at 2 
Mason Street Dandenong as part of a three-way land swap with Development Victoria and $323,000 
from the fleet replacement program. 

 
Cash flows from financing activities – outflow of $5.16 million.  Council incurred $2.22 million in finance 
costs on its borrowings and repaid $2.43 million of existing loans.  In accordance with the new Accounting 
Standard AASB 16 'Leases', Council incurred $2,000 in finance costs on leases and repaid $506,000 of 
its leased liabilities as at 31 March 2021.  
 
Restricted cash - Restricted cash represents funds that are set aside for specific purposes, as detailed 
in the following tables. 
 

Type 31 Mar 2021 Notes 

Reserve funds $’000  
Council funded Development 
Contribution Plans (DCP) reserve 

19,815 Reserved for specific expenditure in 
accordance with the published DCP. 

Open space – planning, 
development and improvements 

10,336 Reserved for enhancing the City’s open 
space by planning, development and 
improvements. 

Open space – acquisitions 891 To fund acquisitions of new open space land. 
Major projects reserve 25,755 Holds funds realised from the sale of 

Council’s property assets or surplus Council 
funds that will be utilised for investing in other 
properties or funding future major projects. 

Keysborough South Maintenance 
Levy 

2,554 Reserved for specific maintenance 
expenditure relating to this area. 

Spring Valley landfill rehabilitation 469 This reserve is for the rehabilitation of the 
Spring Valley landfill site. 

Re-vegetation reserves 369 These funds are to meet native re-vegetation 
requirements on Council’s reserves. 

Insurance fund reserve 928 This fund has been created to meet large and 
unexpected policy excesses on multiple 
insurance claims. 

Springvale Activity Precinct 
Parking and Development reserve 

235 This reserve is to fund development in the 
Springvale Activity Centre. 

Dandenong Activity Precinct 
Parking and Development reserve 

1,247 This reserve is to fund development in the 
Dandenong Activity Centre. 

General reserve (Aged Care) 334 Funds set aside for the aged care reforms. 

Future maintenance reserve 
(LXRA) 

206 Contribution funds for future works to address 
level crossing removal authority defects. 

Total reserve funds 63,139  
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Type 31 Mar 2021 Notes 
Employee provisions $’000  
Long service leave 
 

13,034 Funds set aside to meet long service leave 
commitments. 

Annual leave and other  8,661 Funds set aside to meet annual leave and 
rostered days off (RDO) commitments. 

Employee provisions 21,695  
 

Trust funds and deposits $’000  
Fire services property levy (FSPL) 
collected and due 

1,774 Payable to State Revenue Office – legislative 
requirement. 

Open space contributions 657 Pending completion of works. 
Landscape deposits 1,071 Pending completion of works. 
Road deposits 2,519 Pending completion of works. 
Other trust funds and deposits 3,330 Refundable upon finalisation of programs. 
Total trust funds and deposits 9,351  

 
Other restricted funds $’000  
DCP unearned income 30,469 Pending completion of works by developers. 
Other restricted funds 30,469  

 
Total restricted cash 124,654 
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Statement of Capital Works    
 
Total capital expenditure at 31 March 2021 was $35.34 million.  A further $21.74 million was committed 
at the end of March.  The following CIP Expenditure Report contains the expenditure status of each of 
the approved capital projects.   
 
The timing of cash outflows and project completion can differ for capital projects.  Commentary on the 
status of each project with major year to date variances is provided below (i.e. variances greater than 
$300,000).  Please note that the variances detailed below are the total of all asset classes by capital 
project whereas the Capital Expenditure report details the variances separately by asset class and capital 
project. 
 
 
Plant and equipment       
 
• 1445  Fleet Purchases ($366,000 favourable) – Lower than anticipated fleet purchases to date.  

The turnover and purchase of fleet is based on utilisation.  Utilisation has slowed significantly due to 
COVID-19 restrictions and only critical fleet services occurring for a number of months.  In addition, 
the planned purchase of a large tractor is unlikely to occur by 30 June 2021 as stock supply into 
Australia has been hindered by COVID-19.  Some savings in this program are anticipated this 
financial year due to COVID-19. 

 
Infrastructure       
 
• 3900 Ross Reserve Plaza/Play/Oval/Path ($348,000 favourable) – Works have commenced 

and mostly on track.  Playground contract has been awarded and works are expected to be complete 
by 30 June 2021.  Stage 1 works of the shared pedestrian path (jogging/tan track) have been 
completed, however, stage 2 cannot be undertaken until construction of the pavilion is complete.  
Similarly, upgrade of oval 1 will be undertaken once construction of the pavilion is complete.  The 
Plaza works – construction of basketball court and supporting elements have been completed.    
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CIP Expenditure Report 
 

 
 
 
 
Note:  Buildings – 3902 Ross Reserve Pavilion – the commitments amount of $7.59 million in the report above 
includes commitments relating to future years (multi-year project). 
 
  

 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
MID YEAR
BUDGET 

 FULL
YEAR

FORECAST 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 

PROPERTY
Buildings
3043. Springvale Community Precinct 2,204,972      2,198,060      (6,912)           9,315             2,221,060      2,221,060      500,000         
3219. Thomas Carroll Pavilion 43,600           45,572           1,972             85,049           2,450,475      2,450,475      -                
3362. Springvale City Hall -                -                -                -                25,000           -                25,000           
3547. George Andrews Reserve-Bld Modific. 1,565             -                (1,565)           -                330,000         330,000         330,000         
3548. Keysborough South Community Hub Dev 292,957         294,568         1,611             260,562         3,612,121      2,971,053      2,575,108      
3792. Dandenong Mkt Back of House-Coolrm 623,152         640,876         17,724           9,351             720,876         720,876         580,000         
3793. Dandenong Market Utility Srv Infra -                -                -                -                100,000         100,000         100,000         
3802. Building Energy Efficiency Program 90,891           -                (90,891)         -                -                -                -                
3805. Municipal Early Years Infrast. Plan -                -                -                1,333             60,164           60,164           -                
3813. Shalimar Kindergarten MCH 2,825             -                (2,825)           -                -                -                -                
3814. D'nong Nth Senior Citizen Ctr Latha -                1,500             1,500             -                1,500             1,500             -                
3873. Building Renewal Prg.- DDA 600                16,875           16,275           -                45,000           45,000           45,000           
3874. Building Renewal Prg.- HVAC 128,939         170,625         41,686           -                310,000         310,000         310,000         
3876. Building Renewal Prg.- Bathroom 109,568         115,000         5,432             8,556             115,000         115,000         115,000         
3877. Building Renewal Prg.- Flooring 168,564         122,000         (46,564)         -                122,000         122,000         122,000         
3878. Building Renewal Prg.- Lift Refurb. 41,910           28,375           (13,535)         -                28,375           28,375           -                
3879. Building Renewal Prg.- Minor Works 93,448           45,000           (48,448)         20,715           45,000           45,000           45,000           
3880. Building Renewal Prg.- Roof 59,410           96,250           36,840           14                  125,000         125,000         275,000         
3883. Building Renewal Prg.- Kitchen & Eq 159,421         163,488         4,067             93,702           224,300         224,300         224,300         
3902. Ross Reserve Pavilion 810,820         810,000         (820)              7,591,738      1,992,500      1,992,500      2,000,000      
3904. Building Renewal Prg. - Theatre 410,279         404,500         (5,779)           41,959           576,000         576,000         576,000         
3906. Greater D'nong Gallery of Art 2,037,101      2,040,000      2,899             3,507,413      6,437,493      6,437,493      1,500,000      
3908. Oasis/NPAC Design Dev't 189,733         178,067         (11,666)         -                178,067         178,067         -                
3945. CCTV Renewal Program 34,516           24,750           (9,766)           11,740           30,000           30,000           30,000           
3946. Building Renewal Prg.-Aquatic & Lei 458,477         480,000         21,523           75,326           558,000         558,000         558,000         
3947. Building Renewal Prg.- Project 6,068             56,250           50,182           6,545             150,000         150,000         150,000         
3948. D'nong Mkt (Fruit & Veg) Floor&Roof 16,728           17,000           272                2,798             130,000         130,000         130,000         
3949. NPAC Redevelopment 285,607         287,000         1,393             94,980           3,000,000      3,000,000      -                
3950. Robert Booth Baseball Design&Constr 6,889             -                (6,889)           9,091             20,000           20,000           20,000           
3951. Ross Res P/grnd-Change Plc Toilet 2,030             -                (2,030)           214,710         300,000         300,000         300,000         
3952. S/Vale Library/Civic-Storage&Equip -                -                -                -                100,000         100,000         100,000         
3953. Balmoral Ave Car Park 44,020           38,000           (6,020)           23,187           57,207           57,207           400,000         
3972. Local Roads Community Infras. Prog. -                -                -                -                -                -                500,000         
3974. D'nong Aquatic & Wellbeing Ctr 204,321         205,000         679                213,350         1,970,000      1,970,000      2,000,000      

Leasehold Improvements
3941. Police Paddocks Res. Grandstand -                -                -                -                434,860         434,860         -                
3954. Police Paddocks Changerooms 94,841           95,000           159                -                102,385         102,385         202,385         

Land
3396. 2A Frank St Noble Park 1,404,457      1,404,457      0                    -                1,404,457      1,404,457      -                
3444. 3-Way Land Swap-Dev't Vic 1,128,303      1,125,000      (3,303)           -                1,125,000      1,125,000      -                
3452. 114 Hanna St, Noble Park 75,000           -                (75,000)         -                -                1,510,000      -                
3975. 86-88 Clow St Dandenong 2,666,654      2,669,526      2,872             -                2,669,526      2,669,526      -                
3976. 218 Railway Parade Noble Park 962,696         950,000         (12,696)         -                950,000         950,000         -                
3989. DCP - 875 Taylors Road (LRO6b) 4,652             6,932             2,280             678                396,932         396,932         -                

Total property 14,865,016    14,729,671    (135,345)       12,282,112    33,118,298    33,962,230    13,712,793    

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Plant, machinery and equipment
1445. Fleet Purchases 632,020         998,407         366,387         616,186         2,746,410      2,746,410      2,662,410      
1447. Fleet New Program -                -                -                -                160,000         160,000         244,000         
3449. TAC Road Safety Trailer 17,510           -                (17,510)         -                -                17,155           -                
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CIP Expenditure Report 
 

 
  

 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
MID YEAR
BUDGET 

 FULL
YEAR

FORECAST 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 

Library books
3104. Library Resources 486,561         598,592         112,031         323,363         849,560         849,560         859,560         

Computers and telecommunications
3827. Increase Wi-Fi Cover-Various Locatn -                -                -                -                20,000           20,000           20,000           
3902. Ross Reserve Pavilion -                -                -                -                45,000           45,000           -                
3911. Dandenong Stadium Wi-Fi 1,143             -                (1,143)           -                10,000           10,000           10,000           
3913. People Counters Installation 3,045             -                (3,045)           -                -                -                -                
3914. Asset Management System 372,678         393,048         20,370           419                915,258         915,258         216,612         
3918. Drum Theatre Ticketing System 137,161         137,161         -                -                137,161         137,161         -                
3919. Digital Infrastructure (Website) 7,442             8,000             559                -                100,000         100,000         100,000         
3956. 39A Clow-Security Eq,Software&Radio 14,845           15,000           155                -                15,000           15,000           15,000           
3957. Audio Visual Equipment Renewal 23,634           24,375           741                -                25,000           25,000           25,000           
3958. D'nong Civic Ctr-Security Eq&S'ware 105,252         100,000         (5,252)           4,748             110,000         110,000         110,000         
3959. Emergency Relief Centres-Equipment 18,249           20,000           1,751             1,005             60,000           60,000           60,000           
3960. Menzies Ave CCTV 5,400             6,000             600                -                20,000           20,000           20,000           

Fixtures, fittings and furniture
3314. Public hall equipment 57,573           60,000           2,427             19,420           400,000         400,000         400,000         
3952. S/Vale Library/Civic-Storage&Equip -                -                -                -                10,000           10,000           10,000           
3955. MCH Blinds-Chandler & Darren Reserv 880                -                (880)              5,786             16,000           16,000           16,000           

Total plant and equipment 1,883,392      2,360,583      477,191         970,926         5,639,389      5,656,544      4,768,582      

INFRASTRUCTURE
Parks, open space and streetscapes
1629. 275 Lonsdale St Dnong-Vanity Lane 63,390           65,000           1,610             54,000           1,175,000      1,175,000      1,175,000      
1747. Barry Powell Reserve Master Plan 3,105             5,000             1,895             -                99,049           99,049           -                
1748. Spring Valley Reserve Master Plan -                38,724           38,724           40,872           38,724           38,724           -                
1761. 6-8 Fifth Ave - Reserve Development 27,402           29,000           1,598             13,873           100,000         100,000         100,000         
1762. 90 Gove St - Reserve Development 84,750           85,000           250                -                100,000         100,000         100,000         
1796. Wal Turner Reserve Master Plan 377,801         378,591         790                64,302           383,591         383,591         -                
1818. Safety, Security & Space Activation -                -                -                -                -                17,270           -                
2117. 89 Douglas Street Noble Park 23,501           22,500           (1,001)           740                80,000           80,000           80,000           
2126. Herbert St Pocket Park -                -                -                -                -                275,000         -                
3065. Public Place Recycling Bin Instal. 37,189           39,192           2,003             -                39,192           39,192           -                
3141. Thomas St Precinct Enhance(Afghan) -                -                -                -                17,511           17,511           -                
3192. Douglas st. s/scape improv.proj. 10,988           4,000             (6,988)           -                4,000             4,000             -                
3248. DCP Keysb. Sth Industrial Buffer 91,951           109,229         17,278           6,630             109,229         109,229         -                
3272. Indigenous Public Art SCP 27,865           21,000           (6,865)           2,017             61,000           61,000           -                
3438. Hemmings St N'hood Act Ctr 2,100             10,000           7,900             -                60,000           60,000           -                
3439. LRCI-Ross Reserve Stage 2 437,005         440,000         2,995             16,401           500,000         500,000         -                
3440. LRCI-Warner Reserve 15,976           30,000           14,024           172,841         200,000         200,000         -                
3454. Dogs off leash program 102,350         150,000         47,650           -                150,000         150,000         150,000         
3490. Springvale Road Boulevard 7,298             11,246           3,948             122,066         4,069,601      4,069,601      -                
3498. Walker St D'nong-Streetscape 760                -                (760)              -                -                -                -                
3631. Dandenong Park Master Plan 1,501,075      1,492,915      (8,160)           318,777         2,200,915      2,200,915      1,000,000      
3714. Tirhatuan Park Dog Off Leash 143,786         145,000         1,214             3,935             153,500         153,500         -                
3747. Streetscapes - Activity Centres -                -                -                -                50,000           50,000           50,000           
3848. LRCI Hemmings SC Streetscape 294,599         305,000         10,402           26,518           417,807         417,807         100,000         
3849. Frederick Wachter Res. Master Plan 509,674         502,126         (7,548)           630,868         1,310,626      1,310,626      510,000         
3853. Parkfield Res. Master Plan Impl. 181,878         182,901         1,023             558,629         894,901         894,901         1,050,000      
3854. Burden Park Res. Master Plan Imp. 748,804         750,104         1,300             6,339             787,104         787,104         20,000           
3900. Ross Reserve Plaza/Play/Oval/Path 16,920           364,000         347,080         8,004             535,755         535,755         -                
3929. Act Crt Strat Plan Imp - D'nong 204,807         206,393         1,586             289,390         443,393         443,393         -                
3930. Act Crt Strat Plan Imp - NPark 13,565           15,000           1,435             1,987             50,000           50,000           -                
3931. Guardrail Upgrade Program 8,670             8,670             0                    -                8,670             8,670             -                
3932. Open Space Infra Renewal Prg 94,041           87,000           (7,041)           5,273             160,000         160,000         160,000         
3933. Sports Lighting Plan Imp. 136,255         135,000         (1,255)           27,396           400,000         400,000         -                
3934. Parking Sensor Implementation 239,517         240,000         483                222,911         344,508         344,508         -                
3940. Ross Reserve Comm Ctr Car Park 303,147         304,000         853                165,847         499,452         499,452         -                
3943. Keysb Sth Comm Hub Dog Off Leash 25,603           27,938           2,335             -                62,938           62,938           -                
3967. D'nong Act Ctr- Streetscape -                -                -                -                25,000           25,000           25,000           
3968. Norman Luth Reserve Lighting 302,643         302,500         (143)              76,064           376,365         376,365         376,365         
3969. Thomas Carroll-Cricket/Play/Light 12,200           15,000           2,800             5,800             15,000           15,000           15,000           
3970. Alan Corrigan Exercise Equipment 53,830           55,000           1,170             -                60,000           60,000           60,000           
3971. D'nong/D'nong Nth-Sensory Nature Tr -                -                -                -                -                -                100,000         
3973. Signage Renewal Program 37,496           41,250           3,754             40,500           110,000         110,000         110,000         
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 YTD
ACTUAL 

 YTD
BUDGET 

 YTD
VARIANCE  COMMIT 

 ANNUAL
MID YEAR
BUDGET 

 FULL
YEAR

FORECAST 

 ANNUAL
ORIGINAL 
BUDGET 

 $  $  $  $  $  $  $ 

Recreational, leisure and community facilities
3209. Active Reserves Program 114,374         115,000         626                161,770         335,000         335,000         335,000         
3442. Noble Park Revitalisation 64,874           65,000           126                143,520         190,000         190,000         -                
3518. Harmony Square Entrance Protection 10,000           10,000           -                -                30,000           30,000           -                
3794. Tatterson Park Masterplan 395,166         398,000         2,834             68,487           435,671         435,671         -                
3837. Greaves Res.Tennis Court Resurf. 21,254           19,276           (1,978)           47,832           95,276           95,276           -                
3900. Ross Reserve Plaza/Play/Oval/Path 734,748         736,000         1,252             1,414,486      1,998,252      1,998,252      -                
3926. Sports Facilities Plan Imp. (96)                -                96                  -                -                -                -                
3963. Ian Tatterson Leisure Park Cricket 35,465           30,000           (5,465)           -                30,000           30,000           60,000           
3964. Warner Reserve Recreation Space 27,165           28,000           835                150,173         175,450         175,450         350,900         
3965. Red Gum Rest - Shade 94,318           95,000           682                29,225           120,000         120,000         120,000         
3966. Tirhatuan Park - Basketball Court 4,700             4,700             -                -                4,700             4,700             175,000         
3969. Thomas Carroll-Cricket/Play/Light 1,790             -                (1,790)           174,663         180,000         180,000         430,000         

Roads
1629. 275 Lonsdale St Dnong-Vanity Lane 60,477           60,000           (477)              24,187           90,000           90,000           -                
3080. Abbotts Road DCP item L102 -                -                -                -                4,806,087      4,806,087      4,806,087      
3231. Local Road Upgrade & Reconstruction 59,045           55,133           (3,912)           58,110           165,133         165,133         -                
3373. Municipal wide, Kerb and Channel 245,866         246,875         1,009             102,089         350,000         350,000         500,000         
3418. Municipal Wide,LATM post audit 434,173         450,000         15,827           117,880         450,000         450,000         450,000         
3752. Local Road Rehab.Prg-Implement R2R -                -                -                190,230         507,817         507,817         507,817         
3753. Local Road Surf./Rehabit. Prg. 2,759,228      2,760,000      772                511,996         4,000,000      4,000,000      5,250,000      
3828. Activity Centre Proj. Mason St 59,952           58,779           (1,173)           32,108           488,779         488,779         -                
3831. Bakers Rd, D'nong Nth Alter.Cross -                -                -                -                -                -                -                
3923. Cheltenham Rd/Chandler Rd 235,245         241,666         6,421             -                241,666         241,666         -                
3934. Parking Sensor Implementation -                -                -                -                200,000         200,000         200,000         
3938. Kerb & Channel Resurfacing Program 3,052,629      3,000,000      (52,629)         130,964         3,000,000      3,000,000      1,750,000      
3942. Black Spot Works Program 273,061         275,189         2,128             21,008           2,681,676      2,681,676      -                
3944. Keysb Sth Comm Hub Access Road 119,903         117,000         (2,903)           1,928,589      1,977,002      1,977,002      2,000,000      
3961. Road Reconst Program - Geotechnical -                -                -                -                50,000           50,000           50,000           
3962. Bakers Road Service Road -                -                -                -                -                -                180,000         
3972. Local Roads Community Infras. Prog. -                -                -                -                -                -                517,807         
3990. DCP - Chapel Rd Upg & Traffic Lght 300,434         156,237         (144,197)       -                156,237         156,237         -                
3992. DCP - Perry Road South Upgrade 5,274             -                (5,274)           -                -                -                -                

Bridges
3185. Municipal Wide - Bridges -                -                -                -                -                -                100,000         

Footpath and cycleways
3174. Active Transport Infra.Priority Pat 20,460           30,000           9,540             -                200,000         200,000         200,000         
3355. Municipal Wide-Footpath Renewal 807,680         810,500         2,820             82,073           1,000,000      1,000,000      1,400,000      

Off street car parks
3794. Tatterson Park Masterplan 1,494,569      1,494,918      349                81,185           1,648,918      1,648,918      -                
3901. Ross Reserve Access Road 68,912           69,717           805                35,113           174,717         174,717         -                
3937. Car Park Renewal Program 18,461           87,672           69,211           -                153,645         153,645         -                

Drainage
3019. Major Drainage Renewal Prg. 286,971         288,250         1,279             6,335             410,000         410,000         410,000         
3129. Drainage program 311,862         340,351         28,489           72,883           384,770         384,770         -                
3939. Drainage Reactive Renewal Program 327,502         250,000         (77,502)         15,988           250,000         250,000         250,000         

Total infrastructure 18,587,406    18,911,542    324,136         8,482,872      43,073,627    43,365,897    25,223,976    

GRAND TOTAL 35,335,814 36,001,796 665,982 21,735,910 81,831,314 82,984,671 43,705,351
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Cash and Investments 
 
 

 
 

Policy limit - no single institution shall comprise more than 25% of the total investment portfolio, unless 
the investment is with Council's banker. 

 

  
 
Note: Green deposit: 6% (or $10.10 million) was invested at 31 March 2021.  These investments are 
certified against Climate Bonds Initiative – Climate Bonds Standard, the same certification as green 
bonds. 
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Cash and Investments 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Note -  DCP unearned income was previously classified in trust funds and deposits (2018-19 and prior). 
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Total Operating Results 
 

CGD BY DIRECTORATE 
 

 
 

 

(a)   Non Directorate includes non-attributable items such as rates income, developer’s contributions, interest income, non-
monetary assets, finance costs and depreciation. 
 
Note - Total income and total expenditure may differ to the operating result on the previous page due to the treatment of 
proceeds from asset sales and associated written down value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Chief Executive Office - - - - - - -
Greater Dandenong Business 969 763 206 795 939 144 196
Corporate Services 1,372 1,229 143 2,131 2,035 (96) 2,691
Engineering Services 19,102 18,816 286 27,246 26,571 (675) 24,776
City Planning Design and Amenity 7,867 7,780 87 10,734 10,148 (586) 13,218
Community Services 15,616 14,160 1,456 20,338 20,989 651 20,602
Non-Directorate (a) 110,497 110,052 445 159,141 159,745 604 160,898
Capital Works Program 1,607 1,548 59 15,937 16,546 609 4,154
Total income 157,030 154,348 2,682 236,322 236,973 651 226,535

Expenses
Chief Executive Office 494 509 15 788 779 9 788
Greater Dandenong Business 2,902 3,163 261 5,209 5,194 15 4,299
Corporate Services 15,676 16,765 1,089 22,858 21,759 1,099 23,280
Engineering Services 43,488 47,298 3,810 69,150 68,782 368 64,637
City Planning Design and Amenity 11,387 13,235 1,848 18,498 17,629 869 18,256
Community Services 33,295 37,748 4,453 52,162 52,815 (653) 47,828
Non-Directorate (a) 33,515 32,427 (1,088) 44,667 46,318 (1,651) 37,689
Capital Works Program - - - - - - -
Total expenses 140,757 151,145 10,388 213,332 213,276 56 196,777

Net surplus (deficit) 16,273 3,203 13,070 22,990 23,697 707 29,758
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CEO DIRECTORATE 
 
OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 
BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 
Notes: 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 1  Other expenses ($54,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in budgeted 
contribution to South East Melbourne Incorporated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Other income  - - - - - - -
Total income - - - - - - -

Expenses
Employee costs  442 432 (10) 586 586 - 586
Materials and services  52 22 (30) 96 89 7 96
Other expenses 1 - 55 55 106 104 2 106
Total expenses 494 509 15 788 779 9 788

Net surplus (deficit) (494) (509) 15 (788) (779) 9 (788)

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
CEO - - - - - - -

Total income - - - - - - -

Expenses
CEO 494 509 15 788 779 9 788

Total expenses 494 509 15 788 779 9 788

Net surplus (deficit) (494) (509) 15 (788) (779) 9 (788)
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GREATER DANDENONG BUSINESS GROUP 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
User fees  - - - 6 6 - 6
Grants - operating 2 886 680 206 680 790 110 -
Other income  83 83 - 109 143 34 190
Total income 969 763 206 795 939 144 196

Expenses
Employee costs 3 1,927 2,078 151 2,789 2,745 44 2,806
Materials and services 4 971 1,033 62 1,977 2,025 (48) 1,365
Other expenses  4 52 48 443 424 19 128
Total expenses 2,902 3,163 261 5,209 5,194 15 4,299

Net surplus (deficit) (1,933) (2,400) 467 (4,414) (4,255) 159 (4,103)

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Greater Dandenong Business 
Executive - - - - - - (1)

Business Networks 318 180 138 204 180 (24) 50
Activity Centres Revitalisation 580 500 80 506 616 110 6
Major Projects 69 79 (10) 79 141 62 135
Economic Development 2 4 (2) 6 2 (4) 6

Total income 969 763 206 795 939 144 196

Expenses
Greater Dandenong Business 
Executive 278 302 24 420 415 5 424

Business Networks 650 666 16 1,014 962 52 747
Activity Centres Revitalisation 831 851 20 1,871 1,953 (82) 1,102
Major Projects 344 328 (16) 494 557 (63) 550
Economic Development 799 1,016 217 1,410 1,307 103 1,476

Total expenses 2,902 3,163 261 5,209 5,194 15 4,299

Net surplus (deficit) (1,933) (2,400) 467 (4,414) (4,255) 159 (4,103)
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Greater Dandenong Business Group 
 
Income 
 
Note 2  Grants - operating ($206,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to receipt of 
unbudgeted grant income for Central Dandenong Facilitation Study (Place Making and Revitalisation 
$80,000) and extension of Community Revitalisation Project ($126,000).  These grants will be offset by 
associated expenditure and have been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 3  Employee costs ($151,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is due to vacant 
positions and a delay in recruitment (Economic Development $124,000 and Place Making and 
Revitalisation $23,000), partly offset by the extension of the City Deals secondment position to January 
2022.   
 
Overall, a favourable variance of $44,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 4  Materials and services ($62,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
receipt of invoices and commencement of projects (Economic Development $82,000, Business Networks 
$42,000, Business Engineering and Major Projects Executive $13,000 and Major Projects $11,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher expenditure for professional services (Community 
Revitalisation Project $53,000) and asset purchases (Outdoor Eating and Entertainment $31,000) which 
will be offset by grant funding. 
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CORPORATE SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 
OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 

 
BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
  

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Statutory fees and fines  69 84 (15) 111 101 (10) 111
User fees  4 16 (12) 21 2 (19) 21
Grants - operating  24 - 24 40 72 32 1
Other income 5 1,275 1,129 146 1,959 1,860 (99) 2,558
Total income 1,372 1,229 143 2,131 2,035 (96) 2,691

Expenses
Employee costs 6 9,791 10,234 443 14,063 13,547 516 14,134
Materials and services 7 5,047 5,508 461 7,518 7,046 472 7,479
Other expenses 8 838 1,023 185 1,277 1,166 111 1,667
Total expenses 15,676 16,765 1,089 22,858 21,759 1,099 23,280

Net surplus (deficit) (14,304) (15,536) 1,232 (20,727) (19,724) 1,003 (20,589)

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Corporate Services Executive - - - - - - -
Communications and 
Customer Service 58 55 3 197 73 (124) 559

Governance 1,137 1,020 117 1,511 1,508 (3) 1,748
Information Technology - - - - - - -
Financial Services 121 139 (18) 363 354 (9) 363
People and Procurement Services 56 15 41 60 100 40 21

Total income 1,372 1,229 143 2,131 2,035 (96) 2,691

Expenses
Corporate Services Executive 362 365 3 598 596 2 609
Communications and 
Customer Service 3,633 4,142 509 5,715 5,141 574 6,188

Governance 1,987 2,358 371 3,175 3,013 162 3,248
Information Technology 3,888 3,935 47 5,092 5,042 50 5,186
Financial Services 1,926 1,926 - 2,878 2,867 11 2,889
People and Procurement Services 3,880 4,039 159 5,400 5,100 300 5,160

Total expenses 15,676 16,765 1,089 22,858 21,759 1,099 23,280

Net surplus (deficit) (14,304) (15,536) 1,232 (20,727) (19,724) 1,003 (20,589)
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Corporate Services Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 5  Other income ($146,000 favourable) – Higher than anticipated rental and recovery 
income to date (Property Management Administration $98,000 and Emergency Management $45,000). 
 
An unfavourable variance of $99,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast due to anticipated 
COVID-19 impacts on rental income from Civic Facilities. 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 6  Employee costs ($443,000 favourable) – The favourable variance is primarily due to 
vacant positions and a reduction in the use of casual staff and overtime (Civic Facilities $179,000, Call 
and Service Centres $107,000, Records Management $46,000 and Southern Screen $25,000), a delay 
in corporate training (Organisational Development Executive $53,000), reduced hours for staff 
(Governance $27,000) and the timing of delivery of programs (Occupational, Health and Safety $11,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by the retirement of a staff member (Property Revenue $19,000).  
 
Overall, a permanent favourable variance of $517,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 7  Materials and services ($461,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
receipt of invoices, commencement of projects and lower than anticipated printing and stationery, 
postage and storage, subscriptions, professional services and insurance claims to date (Organisational 
Development Executive $86,000, Property Management Administration $70,000, Communications and 
Customer Service Executive $62,000, Technical Services $49,000, Civic Facilities $45,000, Records 
Management $43,000, Occupational Health and Safety $41,000, Members of Council $38,000, 
Governance $21,000, Print Shop $16,000, Call and Service Centres $16,000,Jan Wilson Community 
Centre $14,000 and Senior Citizen Facilities $12,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated emergency relief and recovery costs, 
which are mostly recoverable (Emergency Management $33,000) and higher than anticipated 
professional services (Dandenong Market $34,000). 
 
Overall, a permanent favourable variance of $472,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 8  Other expenses ($185,000 favourable) – Favourable variance mainly due to a saving in 
Council's contribution to the Dandenong Night Market which will not occur due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, a delay in the Melbourne Food and Wine Festival contribution (Dandenong Market $127,000) 
and lower administration costs to date (Members of Council $37,000). 
 
A permanent favourable variance of $110,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
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ENGINEERING SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 

OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 

BUSINESS UNITS  
ER  

 
 
 
 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 9 16,910 16,822 88 22,438 22,438 - 22,438
Statutory fees and fines 10 295 203 92 215 250 35 413
User fees 11 396 447 (51) 607 607 - 607
Grants - operating 12 399 230 169 290 466 176 15
Contributions - monetary  2 - 2 - 1 1 -
Asset sales  322 343 (21) 686 526 (160) 686
Other income  778 771 7 3,010 2,283 (727) 617
Total income 19,102 18,816 286 27,246 26,571 (675) 24,776

Expenses
Employee costs 13 13,333 13,615 282 18,621 18,887 (266) 18,082
Materials and services 14 29,770 33,150 3,380 49,810 49,256 554 46,131
Bad and doubtful debts  1 - (1) - - - -
Carrying amount of 
assets sold 15 42 155 113 309 237 72 309
Other expenses  342 378 36 410 402 8 115
Total expenses 43,488 47,298 3,810 69,150 68,782 368 64,637

Net surplus (deficit) (24,386) (28,482) 4,096 (41,904) (42,211) (307) (39,861)

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Engineering Services Executive - - - - - - -
Infrastructure Services 18,100 17,864 236 26,037 25,294 (743) 23,510
City Projects and Asset 
Improvement 23 19 4 19 19 - 19

Infrastructure Planning 979 933 46 1,190 1,258 68 1,247

Total income 19,102 18,816 286 27,246 26,571 (675) 24,776

Expenses
Engineering Services Executive - - - - - - -
Infrastructure Services 34,617 37,910 3,293 55,663 55,133 530 51,698
City Projects and Asset 
Improvement 7,364 7,777 413 11,371 11,560 (189) 10,940

Infrastructure Planning 1,507 1,611 104 2,116 2,089 27 1,999

Total expenses 43,488 47,298 3,810 69,150 68,782 368 64,637

Net surplus (deficit) (24,386) (28,482) 4,096 (41,904) (42,211) (307) (39,861)
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Engineering Services Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 9  Rates and charges ($88,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to better than 
anticipated income from waste and supplementary waste charges to date (Waste Management $86,000).   
 
Note 10 Statutory fees and fines ($92,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to better than 
anticipated fee income from sub-divisions and plan checking (Civil Development and Design $92,000).   
 
A favourable variance of $35,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 11 User fees ($51,000 unfavourable) – Lower drainage plan and asset protection fees to 
date (Transport and Civil Development $51,000).   
 
Note 12 Grants - operating ($169,000 favourable) – Receipt of unbudgeted grant income for Peri 
Urban Weed Management and Corridors of Green (Parks Services $162,000).  These grants will be 
offset by associated project expenditure and have been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 13 Employee costs ($282,000 favourable) – Favourable variance caused by a delay in 
recruitment and lower temporary agency staff costs (Roads and Drains $167,000, Asset Management 
System Implementation $111,000, Parks Services $101,000, Infrastructure Services and Planning 
Executive $35,000, Waste Management $31,000 and Asset Protection $14,000), combined with 
secondment of staff (Transport $22,000) and higher than anticipated motor vehicle recovery (Fleet 
Management $25,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated temporary agency costs (Cleansing 
$101,000), job share arrangement resulting in unbudgeted EFT combined with unbudgeted parental 
leave payments (City Improvement Executive $114,000) as well as leave not yet taken by staff (Building 
Maintenance $26,000) 
 
An unfavourable variance of $266,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 14 Materials and services ($3.38 million favourable) - Favourable variance due to: 
 
• Timing of works and delay in receipt of invoices from contractors particularly for garden waste, hard 

waste, tipping fees and recycling costs (Waste Management $837,000), major road patching, fire 
hydrants and bridge maintenance (Roads and Drains $686,000), cleaning and maintenance of 
buildings (Building Maintenance $507,000), park maintenance and utilities (Parks Services 
$400,000) and dumped rubbish (Cleansing $263,000). 

• Lower than anticipated contract services for street lighting, professional services for asset audits 
and asbestos rectification works (Asset Management $406,000).  

• Lower than anticipated fuel and fleet related costs to date (proactive maintenance, consumables, 
electrical) (Fleet Management $261,000).   

• Delay in commencement of projects (Strategic Transport Planning $54,000). 
• Lower than anticipated building maintenance and operational costs for the Springvale Community 

Hub due to COVID-19 restrictions on opening ($36,000). 
 
A favourable variance of $553,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
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Note 15 Carrying amount of assets sold ($113,000 favourable) – Lower than anticipated carrying 
amount of assets sold to date, consistent with lower asset sale proceeds.  This is a non-cash accounting 
entry (Fleet Management $113,000).   
 
A favourable variance of $72,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
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CITY PLANNING, DESIGN & AMENITY 
 
OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 
BUSINESS UNITS 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges  - - - - - - -
Statutory fees and fines 16 4,713 4,629 84 6,614 6,231 (383) 7,701
User fees 17 2,463 2,618 (155) 3,539 3,195 (344) 4,961
Grants - operating 18 680 468 212 493 709 216 468
Other income 19 11 65 (54) 88 13 (75) 88
Total income 7,867 7,780 87 10,734 10,148 (586) 13,218

Expenses
Employee costs 20 8,973 9,887 914 13,450 12,904 546 13,670
Materials and services 21 1,909 2,636 727 3,648 3,335 313 3,141
Bad and doubtful debts 22 497 674 177 1,353 1,355 (2) 1,353
Other expenses  8 38 30 47 35 12 92
Total expenses 11,387 13,235 1,848 18,498 17,629 869 18,256

Net surplus (deficit) (3,520) (5,455) 1,935 (7,764) (7,481) 283 (5,038)

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
City Planning, Design and 
Amenity Exec. - - - - - - -

Building Services 1,692 1,667 25 2,009 1,935 (74) 2,236
Planning and Design 1,234 1,265 (31) 1,743 1,723 (20) 1,733
Regulatory Services 4,941 4,848 93 6,982 6,490 (492) 9,249

Total income 7,867 7,780 87 10,734 10,148 (586) 13,218

Expenses
City Planning, Design and 
Amenity Exec. 342 349 7 481 474 7 481

Building Services 2,551 2,747 196 3,719 3,799 (80) 3,511
Planning and Design 3,624 4,264 640 5,760 5,382 378 5,571
Regulatory Services 4,870 5,875 1,005 8,538 7,974 564 8,693

Total expenses 11,387 13,235 1,848 18,498 17,629 869 18,256

Net surplus (deficit) (3,520) (5,455) 1,935 (7,764) (7,481) 283 (5,038)
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City Planning, Design and Amenity Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 16 Statutory fees and fines ($84,000 favourable) – Favourable variance mainly due to 
higher than anticipated income from parking fines (Parking Management $244,000) partly offset by lower 
than anticipated fines and fees (Animal Management $73,000, Planning Compliance $45,000, Building 
$33,000, Regulatory Services Administration $15,000 and Strategic Design and Sustainability Planning 
$12,000. 
 
An unfavourable variance of $383,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 17 User fees ($155,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower than 
anticipated building permits (Building $128,000), parking permits (Car Parks $65,000) and planning fees 
(Statutory Planning $39,000). 
 
The unfavourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated income from ticket machines 
(Parking Management $50,000), registration fees (Animal Management $18,000) and renewal fees 
(Health $13,000). 
 
An unfavourable variance of $343,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast primarily due to lower 
Building fee income. 
 
Note 18 Grants – operating ($212,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to receipt of 
unbudgeted grant from the Department of Environmental, Land, Water and Planning (Local Government 
(LG) Capacity Building Grant $224,000).  This will be offset by associated project expenditure and has 
been reflected in the full year forecast.  
 
Note 19 Other income ($54,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to lower than 
anticipated rental income from Carroll Lane car park caused by delay in lease arrangement as a result 
of COVID-19 testing at this site (Car Park $54,000). 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 20 Employee costs ($914,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
recruitment of vacant positions, lower overtime and use of temporary staff to date (Statutory Planning 
$206,000, Parking Management $121,000, Animal Management $104,000, Strategic Design and 
Sustainability Planning $94,000, Public Safety and Security $84,000, Building $63,000, Planning 
Compliance $51,000, Regulatory Services Administration $49,000, General Law Enforcement $45,000 
and Health $30,000) combined with lower salary costs for school crossings due to closure of schools 
under COVID-19 stage four restrictions (School Crossing Supervisors $66,000).   
 
A favourable variance of $546,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
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Note 21 Materials and services ($727,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to lower Fines 
Victoria statutory lodgement costs for parking infringements (Parking Management $240,000), delay in 
receipt of invoices and commencement of projects, combined with lower professional services 
expenditure (Strategic Design and Sustainability Planning $248,000, Health $52,000, Statutory Planning 
$67,000, Animal Management $45,000, Regulatory Services Administration $42,000 and Car Parks 
$24,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher than anticipated professional services costs to engage 
a Municipal Building Surveyor (Building $32,000).   
 
Overall, a favourable variance of $314,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 22 Bad and doubtful debts ($177,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to lower than 
anticipated provision for doubtful debts expense to date (Parking Management $146,000, General Law 
Enforcement $19,000 and Health $9,000). 
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COMMUNITY SERVICES DIRECTORATE 
 
OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
 
BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 
 
  

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
User fees 23 1,138 1,678 (540) 2,329 1,837 (492) 2,473
Grants - operating 24 14,244 12,224 2,020 17,439 18,829 1,390 17,191
Other income  234 258 (24) 570 323 (247) 938
Total income 15,616 14,160 1,456 20,338 20,989 651 20,602

Expenses
Employee costs 25 23,606 27,025 3,419 37,072 36,991 81 34,076
Materials and services 26 7,820 8,790 970 12,496 13,226 (730) 11,095
Bad and doubtful debts  13 - (13) 9 9 - 9
Other expenses 27 1,856 1,933 77 2,585 2,589 (4) 2,648
Total expenses 33,295 37,748 4,453 52,162 52,815 (653) 47,828

Net surplus (deficit) (17,679) (23,588) 5,909 (31,824) (31,826) (2) (27,226)

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Community Services Executive - - - - - - -
Community Wellbeing 8,166 6,752 1,414 9,739 10,775 1,036 8,873
Community Care 5,778 5,881 (103) 8,655 8,300 (355) 9,655
Community Arts, Culture and Libraries 1,308 1,286 22 1,511 1,469 (42) 1,613
Community Development, 
Sports and Recreation 364 241 123 433 445 12 461

Total income 15,616 14,160 1,456 20,338 20,989 651 20,602

Expenses
Community Services Executive 447 524 77 744 734 10 445
Community Wellbeing 11,429 13,864 2,435 19,046 20,028 (982) 14,791
Community Care 8,824 9,593 769 13,113 12,817 296 13,894
Community Arts, Culture and Libraries 6,855 7,526 671 10,077 9,888 189 10,331
Community Development, 
Sports and Recreation 5,740 6,241 501 9,182 9,348 (166) 8,367

Total expenses 33,295 37,748 4,453 52,162 52,815 (653) 47,828

Net surplus (deficit) (17,679) (23,588) 5,909 (31,824) (31,826) (2) (27,226)
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Community Services Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 23 User fees ($540,000 unfavourable) - Unfavourable variance mainly due to the Family 
Day Care (FDC) administration levy not being charged for most of the year as a result of COVID-19, 
(mostly offset by higher FDC grant subsidy income, FDC $431,000) combined with lower than anticipated 
service provision fee income (Home and Community Care $131,000).   
 
An unfavourable variance of $491,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 24 Grants – operating ($2.02 million favourable) - Favourable variance due to: 
 
Higher than anticipated or additional grant funding received (will be offset by associated expenditure): 
 
• Family Day Care $1.38 million 
• Child First $290,000  
• Library and Information Services $74,000 
 
New (unbudgeted) grant funding received (reflected in the full year forecast and will be offset by 
associated expenditure): 
 
• Community Development (Community Activation Social Isolation (CASI)) $65,000 
• Community Development (CASI Working For Victoria) $49,000 
• Community Development (Safety, Security and Space Activation) $23,000 
• HACC PYP Linkages $127,000 
• Healthy Children & Young People $19,000 
 
Grant funding received earlier than anticipated: 
 
• Enhanced MCH Program $99,000 
• HACC – Assessments and Team Leaders $63,000 
• Maternal and Child Health $34,000 
• Childrens Support Services $19,000 
 
These favourable variances are partly offset by: 
 
Lower than anticipated grant funding based on target achievement for: 
 
• Home and Community Care $62,000  
• Food Services $77,000 
• Planned Activity Group $67,000 
 
Delay in receipt of anticipated grant funding: 
 
• Y-Space $17,000 
 
Grant funding no longer expected to be received (reflected in the full year forecast): 
 
• Sports Planning (Walk to School) $10,000 
 
A favourable variance of $1.39 million has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
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Expenses 
 
Note 25 Employee costs ($3.42 million favourable) - $2.19 million of this favourable variance 
relates to grant funded programs (which require an acquittal) caused by a delay in recruitment (Enhanced 
MCH Program $694,000, Child First $504,000, New Directions - Mother and Babies $246,000, Sleep and 
Settling Initiative $240,000, Playgroups Initiative $186,000, Pre-School Field Officer $145,000, 
Right@Home $130,000 and Drug Strategy $66,000).  Any unspent grant funds relating to these programs 
will be carried forward to the 2021-22 financial year.    
 
The remaining favourable variance is due to a delay in recruitment (Library and Information Services 
$284,000, Home and Community Care $236,000, Maternal and Child Health $137,000, Planned Activity 
Group $125,000, Children’s Support Services $125,000, Cultural Development $58,000, Community 
Development $46,000, Food Services $45,000, Family Day Care $45,000, HACC - Co-ordination 
$44,000, Youth Leadership $41,000, HACC - Home Maintenance $31,000, Youth Development $28,000 
and HACC – Assessments and Team Leaders $25,000).  
 
The favourable variance is partly offset by higher hours than anticipated due to COVID-19 requirements 
(Immunisation $117,000). 
 
Overall, the majority of this favourable variance is not expected to be permanent, with a favourable 
adjustment of $81,000 being reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 26 Material and services ($970,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
receipt of invoices and commencement of projects (Leisure Centres $287,000, Library and Information 
Services $245,000, Home and Community Care $169,000, Market Street Occasional Child Care Centre 
$126,000, Festivals and Events $122,000, New Directions – Mothers and Babies $117,000, Cultural 
Development $95,000, Drug Strategy $88,000, Community Hub Early Years $85,000, Enhanced MCH 
Program $84,000, Food Services $60,000, Community Funding $55,000, Community Precinct 
Operations $48,000, Sports Planning $36,000, Community Development $31,000 and HACC Co-
ordination $23,000). 
 
This favourable variance is partly offset by higher payments to educators relating to additional service 
delivery requirements which are offset by higher grant income (Family Day Care (FDC) $902,000). 
 
An unfavourable variance of $730,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast mainly due to the higher 
payments to FDC educators. 
 
Note 27 Other expenses ($77,000 favourable) – Favourable variance mainly due to timing of 
community funding allocation (Community Funding $31,000) and lower than anticipated expenditure 
(Senior Citizens Centres $27,000). 
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NON-DIRECTORATE 
COMM 
OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
ERVI 
BUSINESS UNITS 
 

 
 
 
Non-Directorate includes non-attributable items such as rates income, fire services levy payable on Council properties, developer’s contributions, 
interest income, gifted assets, carrying amount of assets disposed/written off and finance costs.  Non attributable COVID-19 pandemic costs 
are included here. 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Rates and charges 28 97,746 97,564 182 129,312 129,442 130 129,887
Statutory fees and fines  9 9 - 200 9 (191) 200
Grants - operating  8,750 8,750 - 10,720 11,218 498 12,201
Contributions - monetary 29 1,830 1,719 111 2,000 2,000 - 2,000
Contributions - non-monetary  298 298 - 15,000 15,000 - 15,000
Asset sales  1,001 1,000 1 1,000 1,001 1 -
Other income 30 863 712 151 909 1,075 166 1,610
Total income 110,497 110,052 445 159,141 159,745 604 160,898

Expenses
Employee costs  2,065 2,050 (15) 3,959 4,447 (488) 1,050
Materials and services 31 1,307 1,420 113 2,369 2,497 (128) 1,188
Prior year capital expenditure 
unable to be capitalised (non-cash) 32 593 - (593) - - - -
Depreciation  24,222 24,222 - 32,308 32,308 - 31,433
Amortisation - intangible assets 45 45 - 60 60 - -
Amortisation - right of use assets 33 436 291 (145) 581 581 - -
Borrowing costs  2,205 2,205 - 2,924 2,924 - 3,051
Finance costs - leases - - - 21 21 - -
Carrying amount of assets sold 34 1,000 - (1,000) - 1,000 (1,000) -
Fair value adjustments expense  - - - - - - -
Asset write offs 35 208 - (208) - - - -
Other expenses 36 1,434 2,194 760 2,445 2,480 (35) 967
Total expenses 33,515 32,427 (1,088) 44,667 46,318 (1,651) 37,689

Net surplus (deficit) 76,982 77,625 (643) 114,474 113,427 (1,047) 123,209

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Governance 1,001 1,000 1 1,000 1,001 1 -
Corporate Accounting 107,666 107,333 333 156,141 156,744 603 158,898
Planning and Design 1,830 1,719 111 2,000 2,000 - 2,000

Total income 110,497 110,052 445 159,141 159,745 604 160,898

Expenses
Governance 1,007 23 (984) 30 1,030 (1,000) 30
Corporate Accounting 32,486 32,386 (100) 44,619 45,266 (647) 37,641
Planning and Design 22 18 (4) 18 22 (4) 18

Total expenses 33,515 32,427 (1,088) 44,667 46,318 (1,651) 37,689

Net surplus (deficit) 76,982 77,625 (643) 114,474 113,427 (1,047) 123,209
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Non-Directorate 
 
Income 
 
Note 28 Rates and charges ($182,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due mainly to higher 
than anticipated income from supplementary rates, interest on rates and maintenance levy for 
Keysborough South Development (the maintenance levy is transferred to reserves).   
 
A favourable variance of $130,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast. 
 
Note 29 Contributions – monetary ($111,000 favourable) – Better than anticipated income from 
public open space contributions to date.  The nature of these receipts makes timing difficult to predict.  
These funds are transferred to reserves. 
 
Note 30 Other income ($151,000 favourable) – Favourable variance is mainly due to 
unanticipated car parking Fringe Benefits Tax refund due to a successful Australian Taxation Office 
(ATO) ruling.   
 
A favourable variance of $166,000 has been reflected in the full year forecast due to this favourable FBT 
refund partly offset by COVID-19 impacts on investment returns (interest income). 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Note 31 Materials and services ($113,000 favourable) – Favourable variance due to delay in 
receipt of invoices for postage, occupancy costs and bank charges (Working for Victoria Fund $79,000 
and Corporate Accounting $61,000). 
 
Note 32 Prior year capital expenditure unable to be capitalised (non-cash) ($593,000 
unfavourable) – This unfavourable variance is due to works in progress (prior year capital expenditure) 
that is not able to be capitalised to the asset register because it is not capital in nature, does not meet 
the capitalisation threshold or relates to non-Council owned assets (Corporate Accounting $593,000).  
This is a non-cash entry that does not impact on Council’s cash position.  Examples of non-capital 
expenditure include asset relocation, asset removal/demolition, operating services, projects cancelled, 
repairs and maintenance expenditure, studies/surveys and concept planning. 
 
Note 33 Amortisation – right of use assets ($145,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance 
due to incorrect budget phasing.  This will be resolved in April and is a non-cash accounting entry.  
 
Note 34 Carrying amount of assets sold ($1 million unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance 
due to written down value of land sold as part of three-way land swap with Development Victoria that 
settled in December.  This is a non-cash accounting entry and it has been reflected in the full year 
forecast. 
 
Note 35 Asset write offs ($208,000 unfavourable) – Unfavourable variance due to assets written 
off mostly due to asset renewal and replacement.  This item is difficult to predict and is a non-cash 
accounting entry. 
 
Note 36 Other expenses ($760,000 favourable) – Mostly due to a delay in receipt of invoices for 
the Council election costs which are expected to be received in May (Corporate Accounting $631,000). 
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CAPITAL WORKS PROGRAM  
 
OPERATING RESULT 
 

 
 
Notes: 
 
No comments required for this directorate. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL FULL MYB to ANNUAL
YTD YTD YTD MID YEAR YEAR FORECAST ORIGINAL

ACTUAL BUDGET VARIANCE BUDGET FORECAST VARIANCE BUDGET
Notes $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Income
Grants - capital  1,593 1,548 45 13,879 14,488 609 3,244
Contributions - monetary  14 - 14 2,058 2,058 - 910
Total income 1,607 1,548 59 15,937 16,546 609 4,154

Expenses
Employee costs  - - - - - - -
Materials and services  - - - - - - -
Bad and doubtful debts  - - - - - - -
Other expenses  - - - - - - -
Total expenses - - - - - - -

Net surplus (deficit) 1,607 1,548 59 15,937 16,546 609 4,154
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Appendix 4 
 

Operating 
Initiatives 
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Operating Initiatives 
 

 
 
Table continued on next page 

2020-21 
YTD 

Actuals
$

2020-21
YTD 

Budget
$

YTD 
Variance
(Unfav) Fav

$

2020-21 
Original 
Budget

$

Project update - 31 March

Community Services
Membership fee for 
Refugee Welcome Zone 
(RWZ) Leadership 
Council

5,000 5,000 0 5,000 Initiative completed for 2020-21.

Dandenong Community 
Hub - Business Case and 
Concept Plan

0 20,000 20,000 80,000 Project has not yet commenced.

Chandler Reserve 
Community Gardens 
Contribution

720 0 (720) 20,000 Community consultation has closed.  
Officers continue to liaise with the 
Maralinga Community Garden Inc.  The 
proposal has been delayed, pending a 
State Government Advisory Committee 
decision for the adjacent school site.  
This is anticipated to be handed down in 
April/May 2021.  Further consideration by 
council and consultation with the 
community will be required at that time.  
Councillors have been kept informed on 
the progress of this initiative.

5,720 25,000 19,280 105,000

City Planning, Design and Amenity
Climate Change Strategy 
Implementation

50,000 50,000 0 80,000 Consultant has commenced the South 
East Councils Climate Change Alliance 
(SECCCA) additional asset vulnerability 
assessments for community services 
and open space.

Community Gardens 
Strategy Development

0 0 0 20,000 Project has progressed and is in the 
detailed development phase of the 
strategy.

50,000 50,000 0 100,000

Business, Engineering and Major Projects
Stage 2 Social Enterprise 
Progam

0 23,000 23,000 40,000 Project has not yet commenced.   This 
funding is to be redirected to the COVID 
Business Grants Support Program 
(reflected in full year forecast).

Business Case for 
Dandenong Sports and 
Events Centre

0 0 0 50,000 Project has not yet commenced. Waiting 
for matching funding contribution from 
key stakeholders.

Street Trees - Springvale 
South

17,402 20,000 2,598 20,000 Project completed (minor savings).

Operating initiative 
project
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2020-21 
YTD 

Actuals
$

2020-21
YTD 

Budget
$

YTD 
Variance
(Unfav) Fav

$

2020-21 
Original 
Budget

$

Project update - 31 March

Biodiversity Action Plan 0 24,999 24,999 50,000 Consultants have completed the initial 
community consultation phase which 
included workshops and surveys. Field 
surveys and data collection have also 
been completed. The consultant has 
been delayed in preparing the draft 
background report and action plan. The 
working group have met with Ecology 
Australia to review the proposed 
timelines with the view to have a final 
draft of both the background report and 
action plan early May.

Electric Vehicle Fleet 
Transition Plan

0 20,000 20,000 20,000 Expert consultant has now been 
identified and in the process of being 
engaged - the difficulty has been finding 
someone who can consider the whole of 
Council’s fleet (including electricity grid 
network and supporting infrastructure 
required) rather than just an assessment 
of the passenger vehicles which 
represent <20% of the total fleet by either 
numbers or $ value.  It is anticipated that 
the project will be completed by late June 
at a cost of approximately $25,000 (the 
shortfall will be funded from savings in 
other the Fleet operating expense 
accounts).

Landscaping - Robinson 
Street and Princes 
Highway Intersection

12,000 12,000 0 200,000 Design is currently under review with 
works expected in June.

Building demolition - 
Ross Reserve Junior 
Soccer Pavilion

58,840 59,000 160 80,000 Project is on track and due to be 
completed by 30 June 2021.

Building demolition - 
Ross Reserve 
O'Donahue Pavilion 
(F tb ll)

73,815 74,000 185 100,000 Project is on track and due to be 
completed by 30 June 2021.

Street lighting - install and 
replacement

0 300,000 300,000 408,000 Order has been placed for the purchase 
of the lights, with installation to be 
undertaken in year four.

162,057 532,999 370,942 968,000

TOTAL 217,777 607,999 390,222 1,173,000

Operating initiative 
project
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Notes re Operating Initiative reporting:   
 
The reporting on operating initiatives excludes the following: 
 
• Salary related initiatives 
• Operating initiatives that add to an existing budget 
• Ongoing initiatives 
• Carry overs of prior year operating initiatives 
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4.2 OTHER

4.2.1 Draft Minutes of Disability Advisory Committee Meeting - 29 March 2021

File Id:

Director Community ServicesResponsible Officer:

Draft Minutes of Disability Advisory Committee
Meeting - 29 March 2021

Attachments:

Report Summary

At the Council meeting held 23 April 2018, Council resolved in part to invite Advisory Committees
and Reference Groups to submit meeting minutes for Council endorsement. This resolution was in
relation to allowing interested Councillors (and those that attend these Committees and Reference
Groups) to speak to the meeting about items discussed at these meetings.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the draft Minutes of the Disability Advisory Committee meeting provided
in Attachment(s) to this report be noted and endorsed by Council.
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Background

Greater Dandenong Council is represented on a wide range of Committees, Reference Groups and
Advisory Groups which frequently reflect the interests of individual Councillors in serving the broader
community in their role. A full listing of these appointments is confirmed each November at Council’s
Statutory Meeting and is available via Council’s website.

The resolution of Council made on 23 April 2018 provides for Minutes of meetings held by Advisory
Committees and Reference Groups to be submitted to Council for noting and endorsing.

As such, the draft Minutes are provided as attachment to this report.

Proposal
Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted to see
for themselves and the City in 2030, the result was the Greater Dandenong Community Plan ‘Imagine
2030’. This report is consistent with the following community visions:

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’
People

Pride – Best place best people
Cultural Diversity – Model multicultural community
Lifecycle and Social Support – The generations supported

Opportunity

Education, Learning and Information – Knowledge
Leadership by the Council – The leading Council

Council Plan 2017-2021

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. This report is consistent with the following goals:

People

A creative city that respects and embraces diversity

Opportunity

An open and effective Council
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Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities has been considered in the preparation
of this report but is not relevant to its contents.

Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Consultation

Advisory Committees and Reference Groups have been advised of the need to submit minutes of
meetings to Council for noting and endorsement.

Recommendation

That Council notes the draft Minutes of meeting for the Disability Advisory Committee as
provided in Attachment 1 to this report.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
OTHER 

 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF DISABILITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

 
 
 
 
 
 

ATTACHMENT 1 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DISABILITY ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING HELD ON 29 MARCH 2021 

 
 
 
 
 
 

PAGES 4 (including cover) 
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Advisory Committee or 
Reference Group Name: 
 

Disability Advisory Committee Meeting 

Date of Meeting: 
 

Monday 29 March 2021 

Time of Meeting: 
 

4.00pm – 5.30pm 

Meeting Location: 
 

Room 2NE/NW  
City of Greater Dandenong Civic Centre 
225 Lonsdale Street, Dandenong 
 
Also via Microsoft Teams 

 
Attendees:  
Mandy Gatliff (Chair), Pradeep Hewavitharana, Jennifer La Brooy, Lionel Gee, Cr Angela Long - Mayor, 
Catherine Rampant, Lyn Bates, Sharon Harris, Martin Fidler, Jayne Kierce, Chris Stewart, Jenny Vong 
(minute taker) 
 
Apologies:  
Phillip Toovey 
 
Guests:  
Hayden Brown (City of Greater Dandenong – Community Advocacy Officer) 
 
Minutes: 

 
Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
The chair welcomed all present including two new 
Committee members, Lyn Bates and Catherine 
Rampant.   
 

 
 

 

2. Previous Minutes & Business Arising 
• Draft August 2020 minutes were accepted – 

moved Sharon Harris and seconded 
Pradeep Hewavitharana 

• Apologies noted 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

3. Disability Action Plan 2017-2023: Midterm 
review 
The Disability Action Plan 2017-23 adopted by 
Council in 2017 has now reached its halfway point 
and a midterm review of the outcomes from the 
plan has taken place. 
 
The Disability Planning Officer presented a 
summary of the outcomes from the review of the 
Plan.  
 
From the midterm review, it has been identified the 
following require greater focus for the second half 
of the Disability Action Plan: 

- Increase support for technology to assist 
people with disabilities 

- Opportunities for changing attitudes 
towards people with a disability 

  
 
For noting 
 
 
 
 
Send a copy of 
summary findings to 
DAC members 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Disability 
Planning 
Officer 
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- Support and advocacy for people ineligible 
for the NDIS 

- Further promotion of the NDIS to the CALD 
community 
 

4.  Diversity, Access and Equity Policy 
Council’s Community Advocacy Officer presented 
an overview on the draft Diversity, Access and 
Equity Policy. 
 
The policy emphasises the importance of access, 
partnership, advocacy, language, communication, 
diversity, development of inclusive spaces and 
involvement of the community in service planning 
and delivery. 
 
Discussion was held on the Committee’s feedback 
and considerations on the policy including: 

- Improved accessibility for all including safe 
smooth footpath design 

- Promoting accessible information through 
local venues such as train stations, 
markets, public notice boards or through 
letterbox drops 

- Utilising pictures not just words to aid 
communication 

- Providing accurate and up to date 
information in various formats 

- Providing accessible, safe and welcoming 
spaces 

- Well lit up areas with CCTV for safety 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DAC member’s 
feedback considered in 
the development of the 
final draft DAE Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Community 
Advocacy 
Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 

5. Disability Consultation Forum 2020 
Access and Quality Coordinator provided an 
overview on the outcome from the Southern 
Region Disability Alliance (SRDA) workshop held 
on 15 December 2020 via Zoom.   
 
The SRDA is a joint initiative of Cardinia Shire 
Council, City of Casey Council and the Greater 
City of Dandenong Council. Working with service 
providers, community organisations and the 
community at large to reach this mission across 
the southern-metropolitan region of Melbourne.  
  
The forum was held to increase involvement, 
awareness and explore challenges and 
opportunities to support those with a disability to 
participate in community life. 
 
Outcomes of the community workshop 
demonstrated the need for SRDA to take a leading 
role in providing information about the services and 
support available for a person with a disability. 
Helping the individual, family member, carer or 
service provider to understand services and 
support on offer within the southern-metropolitan 
region.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Send a copy of the 
detailed outcomes report 
to DAC members 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Access and 
Quality 
Coordinator 
 
 
 
 

6.  All Abilities Playground Update   
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The construction on the All Abilities Playground in 
Ross Reserve, Noble Park, is currently underway.  
It will offer an inclusive and diverse range of play 
experiences for all ages and abilities.  The project 
is due to be completed in June 2021. Further 
updates will be provided at the next meeting. 
 

 
 
 
 
Add to next meeting 
agenda 
 

 
 
 
 
Access and 
Quality 
Coordinator 
 

7. MAV Projects Update 
The Disability Planning Officer provided an update 
on the two MAV employment projects that was 
placed on hold due to COVID restrictions. 
 
Due to COVID restrictions, the Social Procurement 
forum has been placed on hold. 
 
The Disability Work Experience Project has 
recommenced again with a graduate intern with a 
disability provided work experience to document 
and identify approaches to build on the seven 
disability related employment projects currently 
operating at Council. 
 
Council continues to encourage access to 
employment opportunities for people with 
disabilities.  A report on the outcomes from the 
project is to be finalised with a copy to be 
presented to Council.  
 
The Manager of Community Care thanked and 
commended the Disability Planning Officer for his 
efforts and progress on these projects. 
 

 
For noting 

 

8. NDIS Update 
Not discussed due to time constraints. 

 
Email Access and 
Quality Coordinator or 
Disability Planning 
Officer any 
updates/concerns 
 

 
DAC members 

9. Other Business 
New disability parking permit process to be 
discussed at the next meeting. 
 

 
Add to next meeting 
agenda 
 

 
Access and 
Quality 
Coordinator 
 

 
Meeting Closed at 5.18pm 
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4.2.2 Draft Minutes of Positive Ageing Advisory Committee Meeting - 8 April 2021

File Id:

Director Community ServicesResponsible Officer:

Draft Minutes of Positive Ageing Advisory
Committee Meeting - 8 April 2021

Attachments:

Report Summary

At the Council meeting held 23 April 2018, Council resolved in part to invite Advisory Committees
and Reference Groups to submit meeting minutes for Council endorsement. This resolution was in
relation to allowing interested Councillors (and those that attend these Committees and Reference
Groups) to speak to the meeting about items discussed at these meetings.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the draft Minutes of the Positive Ageing Advisory Committee meeting
provided in Attachment(s) to this report be noted and endorsed by Council.
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Background

Greater Dandenong Council is represented on a wide range of Committees, Reference Groups and
Advisory Groups which frequently reflect the interests of individual Councillors in serving the broader
community in their role. A full listing of these appointments is confirmed each November at Council’s
Statutory Meeting and is available via Council’s website.

The resolution of Council made on 23 April 2018 provides for Minutes of meetings held by Advisory
Committees and Reference Groups to be submitted to Council for noting and endorsing.

As such, the draft Minutes are provided as attachment to this report.

Proposal
Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’ and Council Plan 2017-2021 – Strategic Objectives,
Strategies and Plans

After consultation with the Greater Dandenong community on what kind of future they wanted to see
for themselves and the City in 2030, the result was the Greater Dandenong Community Plan ‘Imagine
2030’. This report is consistent with the following community visions:

Community Plan ‘Imagine 2030’
People

Pride – Best place best people
Cultural Diversity – Model multicultural community
Lifecycle and Social Support – The generations supported

Opportunity

Education, Learning and Information – Knowledge
Leadership by the Council – The leading Council

Council Plan 2017-2021

The Council Plan describes the kind of future the Council is working for, and how Council will do this
over four years. This report is consistent with the following goals:

People

A creative city that respects and embraces diversity

Opportunity

An open and effective Council
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Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities

The Victorian Charter of Human Rights and Responsibilities has been considered in the preparation
of this report but is not relevant to its contents.

Financial Implications

There are no financial implications associated with this report.

Consultation

Advisory Committees and Reference Groups have been advised of the need to submit minutes of
meetings to Council for noting and endorsement.

Recommendation

That Council notes the draft Minutes of meeting(s) for the Positive Ageing Advisory Committee
as provided in Attachment 1 to this report.
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OTHER

DRAFT MINUTES OF POSITIVE AGEING ADVISORY COMMITTEE 
MEETING 

ATTACHMENT 1 

POSITIVE AGEING ADVISORY 
COMMITTEE MEETING  
HELD ON 8 APRIL 2021 

PAGES 5 (including cover) 

If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
 

 
 

Advisory Committee or 
Reference Group Name: 
 

Positive Ageing Advisory Committee 

Date of Meeting: 
 

8 April 2021 

Time of Meeting: 
 

1.30-3.30pm 

Meeting Location: 
 

Springvale Community Hub 
5 Hillcrest Grove, Springvale 
Community Rooms 4 & 5 
 
Also via Microsoft Teams 

 
Attendees: 
Committee: Julie Klok (Chair), Maria Erdeg, Morrie Hartman, Shirley Constantine, Milena France, 
Christine Green, Merle Mitchell, Erica Moulang 
 
Council Officers: Deputy Mayor Cr Sophie Tan, Mandy Gatliff, Tracey Macleod, Jenny Vong (minute 
taker) 
 
Apologies: Carol Drummond, Jayne Kierce 
 
Guest speaker: Hayden Brown (City of Greater Dandenong – Community Advocacy Officer) 
 
Minutes: 

 
Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

1. Welcome and Introductions 
• Welcome from the Chair  
• Deputy Mayor Cr Sophie Tan provided the 

Committee her background and interest in 
representing the community in the PAAC. 
 

 
 
For noting 

 

2. Previous Minutes & Business Arising 
• Draft February 2021 minutes were 

accepted – moved Morrie Hartman and 
seconded Maria Erdeg 

• Apologies noted 
 

  

3. 
 

Diversity, Access and Equity Policy 
Council’s Community Advocacy Officer presented 
an overview on the draft Diversity, Access and 
Equity Policy and associated frameworks. 
 
The policy emphasises the importance of access, 
partnership, advocacy, language, communication, 
diversity, development of inclusive spaces and 
involvement of the community in service planning 
and delivery. 
 
Discussion was held on the Committee’s feedback 
and considerations on the policy including: 

- Promoting information to Community 
leaders and groups 

- Providing accurate, up to date information 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Feedback from the 
Committee will 
assist with the 
development of the 
final draft  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Community 
Advocacy 
Officer 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
 

Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

in various formats and languages 
- Information that is easy to understand 
- Communicating via credible community 

members to promote via word of mouth 
- Advertising via different methods such as 

community radio, religious groups, 
maternal childcare, kindergartens, library, 
neighbouring houses and sporting clubs 

- Well maintained areas of public spaces 
and parks with clear signage 

- Well lit up areas with CCTV for safety 
- Public toilets that are well kept and 

accessible including parenting facilities 

 
of the Diversity, 
Access and Equity 
Policy for Council’s 
consideration. 

4.  Discussion on Royal Commission Final Report 
Discussion around the Royal Commission 
recommendations  

An initial summary document had been distributed 
to PAAC members prior to the meeting. 
 
Discussion was held on Final Report published by 
the Royal Commission.  From the 8 volumes and 
148 recommendations, the key recommendations 
discussed for residential care include: 

- Developing staff ratios 
- Improved and continuous training of staff 
- Additional qualified staff 
- Quality food to maintain a healthy lifestyle 

 
Initial comments from Merle Mitchell expressing 
her disappointment with the lack of agreement 
between the two Royal Commissioners on what 
Governance arrangements they recommend to 
Government to be implemented.  
 
There was general discussion around the lack of 
focus on recommendations for the Commonwealth 
Home Support Programme (CHSP) given this is 
the program that approximately 78% of 
Commonwealth Aged Care clients use. 
 
One of the key issues across all aged care 
services is the current lack of enough suitability 
qualified staff. The Manager Community Care 
advised the Committee that Council is currently 
working to alleviate the shortage of staff by 
entering into a partnership with Chisholm TAFE by 
offering 20 Certificate III in Individual Support 
traineeships to local job seekers. It is hoped that 
this can become a model for other Aged Care 
providers to consider going forward. 
 
Due to time constraints, the following 
recommendations were not discussed: 

- Informal carers/volunteers and how to 
support them 

- The assessment process, how to 
streamline this process 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Provide feedback to 
Manager 
Community Care  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PAAC Members 
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
 

Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

- What the recommendations means for our 
community 

The Government will be announcing their 
response to the Royal Commission 
recommendations and how they will implement 
them by 31 May as part of the Federal budget 
announcements.  
 
Manager Community Care asked the Committee 
to consider what recommendations they felt were 
the most important to be implemented. This will 
form the basis of a discussion at the next PAAC 
meeting. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Consider the most 
important RC 
recommendations to 
be implemented  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PAAC members 
 
 
 
 

5.  Updates 
Senior Clubs 
The Positive Ageing team has held a series of 
forums with the Seniors Clubs updating them on 
the latest guidance around COVID-19 and group 
gatherings. These sessions supported the groups 
to develop their COVID safe plans and guidance 
on utilising QR codes so that the groups can 
safely return. 
 
Clubs have expressed the difficulty in checking in 
all members with QR codes due to technological 
issues with a lack of either a smart phone or 
access to the internet. 
 
The Positive Ageing team have proposed clubs 
could mark the attendance of members with their 
contact details, take a photo and send this to the 
Positive Ageing team who will input the electronic 
record for contact tracing requirements.  
 
Bus Outing Program 
The Senior Day trips have continued to be very 
popular with many trips at capacity within days of 
the program being announced. 
 
COVID safe practices on buses and at the 
destinations have helped older residents feel 
comfortable re-engaging with the community. This 
program is released bi-monthly with an 
expectation that the number of activities offered 
will continue to increase as restrictions ease. 
 
Daily trips to five different locations for Devonshire 
Tea will be promoted the week prior to Mother’s 
Day. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Monitoring and 
support provided to 
senior’s clubs as 
necessary 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Email Committee 
details of Outings 
program 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Positive Ageing 
Team 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Positive Ageing 
Team Leader 

6. Other business: 
Chair requested for draft minutes to be circulated 
as soon as possible. 
 

 
Email draft minutes 
 

 
Minute taker 
 

7. Next Meeting 
• Thursday 10 June    
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 
 

Item No. 
 

Item Action Action By 

 
Meeting Closed 3.30pm 
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4.2.3 Report on Matters Discussed at Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings
- 19 April 2021

fA25545File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Report Summary

As part of Council’s ongoing efforts to improve transparency in Council processes, matters discussed
at Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings (other than those matters designated to be
of a confidential nature) are reported on at ordinary Council meetings.

Thematters listed in this report were presented to Councillor Briefing Sessions & Pre-Council Meetings
in April 2021.

Recommendation Summary

This report recommends that the information contained within it be received and noted.
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Matters Presented for Discussion

Councillor Briefing
Session/Pre-Council
Meeting

Item

19 April 2021Plaques, Memorials and Interpretive Signage Policy and
Guidelines

1

Council’s Plaques, Memorials and Interpretive Signage Policy was
last reviewed and adopted by Council in 2015. As the policy is now
due for review Councillors were presented with the proposed
recommendations to update the policy, associated guidelines and
application process.

19 April 2021Social Housing2

Councillors and officers discussed recent options regarding Social
Housing provision proposal within the City of Greater Dandenong.

19 April 2021Notice of Motion No. 84 – Trees in Buckingham Street3

Councillors and officers discussed the status of this Notice of
Motion which called for the removal of trees from the parking bays
in Buckingham Avenue between Balmoral Avenue and Windsor
Avenue, Springvale.

19 April 2021SpringvaleBoulevardConstructionProgramUpdateBoulevard
Construction Program Update

4

Councillors were provided with an update on the commencement
of works within the Springvale Boulevard project. Timelines were
also provided regarding a Communication Plan with traders and
residents.

19 April 2021Revenue and Rating Strategy5

Councillors and officers discussed the proposed Revenue and
Rating Plan 2021-2025 which will be formally considered by Council
at the meeting held 26 April 2021 and then placed on public
exhibition in conjunction with the Annual Budget 2021-22.
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19 April 2021General Discussion6

Councillors and Council officers briefly discussed the following
topics:

a. Media coverage of iCook Foods in weekend media.
b. Consultants employed for Dandenong Community Hub

stakeholder engagement.
c. Update on recent deliberative engagement panel activities.
d. Agenda items for the Council Meeting of 26 April 2021.

Apologies

Cr Bob Milkovic and Cr Loi Truong submitted apologies for the Councillor Briefing Session on
19 April 2021.

Recommendation

That the information contained in this report be received and noted.
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4.2.4 List of Registered Correspondence to Mayor and Councillors

qA283304File Id:

Director Corporate ServicesResponsible Officer:

Correspondence Received 19-30 April 2021Attachments:

Report Summary

Subsequent to resolutions made by Council on 11 November 2013 and 25 February 2014 in relation
to a listing of incoming correspondence addressed to the Mayor and Councillors, Attachment 1
provides a list of this correspondence for the period 19-30 April 2021.

Recommendation

That the listed items provided in Attachment 1 for the period 19-30 April 2021 be received and
noted.
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If the details of the attachment are unclear please contact Governance on 8571 5235. 

OTHER 

LIST OF REGISTERED CORRESPONDENCE TO 
MAYOR AND COUNCILLORS 

ATTACHMENT 1 

CORRESPONDENCE 
RECEIVED 19-30 APRIL 2021

PAGES 3 (including cover)
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5 NOTICES OF MOTION
A notice of motion is a notice setting out the text of a motion proposed to be moved at the next relevant
meeting. It must be in writing, signed by a Councillor, and be lodged with the Chief Executive Officer
in sufficient time for him or her to give each Councillor at least 72 hours notice of such notice.

The guidelines for submitting a notice of motion to a Council meeting are included in the current
Governance Rules.
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6 REPORTSFROMCOUNCILLORS/DELEGATESANDCOUNCILLORS'
QUESTIONS

At each Ordinary Meeting of Council all Councillors will have the opportunity to speak for exactly four
(4) minutes on any meetings, conferences or events they have recently attended.

If a Councillor chooses to speak, the name of the conference/event and the Councillor will be noted
in the Minutes for that meeting. If a Councillor requires additional information on the conference/event
to be listed in the Minutes, they must submit it in writing to a Member of Governance by 9am the day
following the meeting.

Question time is provided to enable Councillors to address questions to the Administration. The
guidelines for asking questions at a Council meeting are included in the current Governance Rules.
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7 URGENT BUSINESS
No business may be admitted as urgent business unless it:

a. Relates to or arises out of a matter which has arisen since distribution of the Agenda.

b. Cannot safely or conveniently be deferred until the next ordinary meeting and unless agreed to
by a majority of those Councillors present at the meeting.
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